University of Nevada, Reno

Finding Pesa Sooname:

Using Documentary Film to Explore Selfhood and Personhood Within the Context of Dementia at the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of Master of Arts in Journalism

by

Casey Jacob Acklin

Dr. Laura Crosswell / Thesis Advisor

May, 2023

Copyright © by Casey Jacob Acklin 2023

All Rights Reserved



THE GRADUATE SCHOOL

We recommend that the thesis prepared under our supervision by

entitled

be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Advisor

Committee Member

Committee Member

Graduate School Representative

Markus Kemmelmeier, Ph.D., Dean Graduate School

ABSTRACT

Increasingly, academics are exploring selfhood and personhood among people living with dementia with intent to inform care practices and community development efforts. Yet very little is understood about dementia in indigenous populations, and nearly no information is available regarding selfhood and personhood within the context of dementia for Native people, despite their increased risk of developing dementia. This study-conducted in partnership with the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe-utilizes Video-Based Dialogical Analysis to unpack how tribal elders living with dementia are supported in preserving selfhood and personhood. The analysis employs a dialogical research framework, which rejects the tendency to finalize participants as is typical in traditional, monological research. Rather, participants are engaged in genuine conversation that helps them chart their path of perpetual becoming, expanding complexity through generative questions instead of reducing it through fundamental truth claims. Participants described selfhood for tribal members as inextricably linked to land, family, culture, and community. Identity was so interwoven with notions of service that selfhood and personhood appeared to operate as a single construct. Tensions between Western and traditional ideologies related to these pillars of selfhood and personhood threaten the well-being of tribal elders living with dementia, yet participants believe that intentional conversation surrounding dementia will help navigate those tensions. Throughout such conversations, one phrase rings with particular resonance: "pesa sooname." Meaning "good thought" or "good think" in Northern Paiute, "pesa sooname" denotes the power of positivity and strengths-based perspectives. At Pyramid Lake, tribal members are using pesa sooname to make positive change, and hope to find *pesa sooname* on the other side of that important work.

DEDICATION

This study is dedicated to the man most influential in my life: my grandfather, Frank Lionel. I grew up with my mother and her parents, so my grandfather was a core part of my life since my earliest days. He was diagnosed with Lewy body dementia when I was 13 years old. My family had no idea what to do, so what we did was focus on his dementia. We treated him as if he was his disease, and in doing so we lost sight of his humanity. When it made most sense from a disease-centered perspective to move my grandfather into a nursing home, we did that. My grandfather died just a few weeks later, perhaps from his disease, but perhaps too because he no longer had anyone treating him like a full human being. He no longer felt connected to others.

Now, through the connections I have been privileged to make with people living with dementia across the world, I know that not only is it possible to live well with dementia, but people are doing just that. I've come to know the power of a supportive community, and the importance of maintaining connections between communities and people living with dementia in a manner that fosters both individual and collective well-being. I may no longer be in a position to make a positive impact in my grandfather's life, but his memory fuels me every single day as I work alongside people living with dementia to tell a different story of dementia—the real story of dementia—that honors people living with dementia as not only fellow community members, but elders to be revered.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This project was truly a collaborative effort, and so there are countless people who deserve acknowledgement. To all who have supported this project in any way: thank you.

First, I would like to thank my primary research partner, Carla Eben. It has been a transformative experience to work with you, Carla, and I continue to learn so much from you. Your passion for seeding conversation about dementia in Indian Country is inspiring, and I look forward to many more hours spent together on the shores of Pyramid Lake.

I also want to thank the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, and specifically the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribal Council, for their enthusiasm for this project and their commitment to mobilizing the stories of elders, family members, and people living with dementia at Pyramid Lake. It is my enduring honor to work with all of you in support of this mission.

I would be remiss if I did not also recognize the immense contributions of my thesis advisor, Dr. Laura Crosswell, and my committee members, Dr. Paromita Pain, Kari Barber, and Dr. Jennifer Carson. Thank you for supporting my crazy ideas and pushing me in all the right ways. Thank you for your knowledge, your wisdom, and your support.

I want to individually thank Dr. Jennifer Carson for being such a distinctively exceptional mentor through the years. I don't know how to thank you in just a few lines, Jennifer, so I will just say this: working with you and learning from you has been the privilege of a lifetime. I would not be here, at the tail end of this thesis project, without the years I have spent in your company. I am unendingly grateful.

Lastly, thank you to my amazing family, and particularly my mother, Valerie Acklin, and my grandmother, Isolina Lionel. I'm not sure what I've done to deserve such unqualified love and support. You are both at the core of everything I do.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	2
The Truth about Dementia	2
Portrayals of Dementia	
Selfhood and Personhood	
The Role of Care Partners	
Dementia in Indian Country	
The Power of Film	
The Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe Purpose of the Study	
Theoretical Framework	
METHODOLOGY	
Partnership with the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe Study Populations and Participant Recruitment	
Research Ethics	
Interview Structure	
Video-Based Dialogical Analysis	
RESULTS	26
Identity and Community at Pyramid Lake	26
A Confluence of Ideologies at Pyramid Lake	
To Serve or Be Served?	
Where to Care?	
Dementia: Lost or Found?	
Surviving and Thriving at Pyramid Lake	
Preserving Land and Culture	
Dementia Awareness	
Finding Pesa Sooname	
DISCUSSION	
STUDY LIMITATIONS	60
CONCLUSION	65
REFERENCES	67
APPENDIX A	74
Recruitment Flyer	74
Recruitment Email	
APPENDIX B	76
Letter of Informed Consent	
Photo/Video Release Form	80

Within our conversations, participants recounted these creation stories of Pyramid Lake,

quoted verbatim as the stories were told.

A long time ago, there was a council that was sent to the ocean for a meeting, and they went to the ocean, and they traveled to get there. And when they were there, there was a young man who wasn't interested in what they were talking about. So, he wandered, just to go see what he could see. While exploring, he met a woman and fell in love. So, when it was time for them to come back, he said, "I met somebody, and I would like to take her home with me." And they said, "No, she's different," and "No, you can't take her back.," and they decided to come back. And on the trip, it kept raining on them all the way on their trip. It rained and rained and rained and rained. And they came along, and water would kind of puddle around them. And they got up on the top of the mountain and they decided they were gonna camp out there, but then water just really started accumulating. So, they came down the mountain, kept coming and kept coming. And they got here, to this valley where we are now. And he said, "I brought her home. I told her to follow us." And they said, "Because you disobeved us, you need to take her and go to live all the way at the end of the valley. Go and live there with this woman that you brought home that we told you, 'Don't bring home.'" And water accumulated around them. And it turns out she was a mermaid. That's why she needed the water. On the trip up, the waterways are clear liquid, clear water. Lake Tahoe was the lake that formed on the mountain, which is clear. They didn't stay there long enough. The Truckee River flows through Reno, through Nixon, to here. And that's freshwater. But Pyramid Lake is salty because she needed the salt water, because she was a mermaid.

There was a mother and a father, and they had children. And out of the children, you know, when they were small, they listened to the parents, they behaved, but as they got older, they started to misbehave, become naughty and not listen to the parents. And as a result of that, the parents decided that the only thing that they could really do is to separate the children and have them be away from each other. And so, two of the children—a boy and a girl were sent south, and a boy and a girl were sent north, and they were instructed by the mother that they were to build a fire each evening so the mother would know that they got to the place that they needed to be. So, they were to do that, to build a fire for four nights in a row. And the mother was able to see the smoke from the fire for the children that went south, but she wasn't able to see the smoke from the fire of the children that went north. And with that she became very sad and distraught, and she cried and cried and cried. And so, it's her tears that formed Pyramid Lake, and she still sits there to this day on the east side of the lake. And the water is salty here at Pyramid Lake, so just as our tears are salty so is our water.

INTRODUCTION

The Truth about Dementia

To define the term, "dementia" refers not to any single disease but instead to a collection of symptoms that can be brought about through a variety of different diseases of and injuries to the brain. In this fashion, dementia is most accurately described as a syndrome (Breitner, 2006). Alzheimer's disease is the most common cause of the dementia syndrome amongst the population at large, representing approximately two-thirds of cases, however there are currently over 100 different distinct forms of dementia that have been identified (Alzheimer's Association, 2023). Many individuals—perhaps even a majority— are living with more than one type of dementia at the same time, a condition called "mixed dementia" (Zekry et al., 2002). While each form of dementia involves its own typical symptoms and progression, and everyone's experience of dementia is unique, in most instances dementia entails a shift in thinking skills significant enough to disrupt daily life and that is progressive, meaning is gets worse over time. Memory is the most well-discussed of these thinking skills, but dementia can also affect planning, judgement, vision, emotion, and one's sense of time and place (Alzheimer's Association, 2019).

Approximately one in nine Americans aged 65 and older are living with dementia or will go on to develop dementia, and the total number of people living with dementia is set to reach 12.7 million by 2050, a near tripling of the current statistic (Alzheimer's Association, 2023). Just within United States, there are approximately 6.7 million people living with dementia as of 2023. Dementia is not an uncommon condition, so why do so many of us still remain so woefully unaware of its realities, to the extent that the average citizen likely would be unable to describe the difference between dementia and Alzheimer's disease? The answer lies squarely in the lack of public amplification of the voices of people living with dementia and family care partners. It isn't that people living with dementia aren't sharing their stories; time and time again, people living with dementia raise their voices in self-advocacy on national and international stages. Rather, the authentic lived experience of people living with dementia is not showcased in popular media.

Portrayals of Dementia

Some analysis has been conducted on the portrayal of dementia and people living with dementia in both fictional and factual manners throughout popular culture. Within journalism in the United States and United Kingdom, dementia has been overwhelmingly presented through a biomedical lens (Bailey et al., 2021; Zeilig, 2015). This way of understanding dementia explains the experiences, words, and actions of people living with dementia as products of a biomedical condition generated entirely within the person living with dementia. A social/relational lens, conversely, explains the things people living with dementia feel, do, and say as products of an interaction between the person living with dementia and their environment. A biomedical perspective isolates a person living with dementia and ascribes them no agency; a social/relational perspective emphasizes connectivity and assumes that people living with dementia speak and act with meaning (Davis, 2004). The biomedical paradigm of discussing dementia threatens the well-being of people living with dementia, while the social/relational paradigm supports that wellbeing. To further emphasize this point, one review of dementia portrayals within popular culture described the systematically biomedical nature of those portrayals as equating

dementia itself with a "natural disaster" and people living with dementia with "the living dead" (Low & Purwaningrum, 2020, p. 10). Another found the portrayals of dementia to be exemplary of inter-relational violence (Mitchell et al., 2013).

When high-quality content that highlights the lives of people living with dementia in a social/relational manner is indeed created, it is often left to languish in niche corners of society, reaching people who already are connected with the dementia activism space but not finding its way to the general public on any notable scale (Cohen-Shalev & Marcus, 2013). However, this is not the case in all cultures. Dementia within Japanese journalistic and creative content almost never alludes to the "loss of self" so intricately connected to a biomedical contextualization of dementia (Drott, 2018), and fictional stories involving characters living with dementia in Germany focus on the enduring self and are typically quite positive (Kessler & Schwender, 2012).

If there are societies across the globe that are successfully discussing dementia differently and embracing a social/relational lens, why is that not happening in the United States? When considered closely, the lack of enlightened portrayals of dementia is not surprising. Perhaps no group of people experiences the compounding influences of intersectional oppression more than people living with dementia, who bear the brunt of both ageist and ableist stereotypes. Western ideologies of intellectualism and cognitivism—particularly rampant in the United States—have all but equated human value with what one *does* rather than who one *is* (Descombes, 2021), and an associated paradigm of individualism has exalted those of us who go it alone and "pull ourselves up by our bootstraps" (Vandello & Cohen, 1999). This way of thinking relegates people living with dementia—who by nature of their condition cannot *do* as much and who rely on systems

of interdependent support for their well-being-to the bottom of a value-based stratification of personhood, with all the stigma that is furnished by such a designation (Hanssen & Tran, 2019). It is assumed that a life with dementia must necessarily be a life of suffering, an existence to be resented by the person living with dementia and pitied by everyone around them. This narrative has been termed the "tragedy discourse" of dementia (Reed et al., 2017). Yet, when considered through a social/relational lens, the tragedy is redefined; nothing inherent to the changes in thinking skills associated with dementia produces such suffering. Rather, it is in fact society's response to dementia—the complete dehumanization of people living with dementia-that causes much of the suffering typically ascribed to a life with dementia. If we can reorient society's default modes of reacting to and interacting with people living with dementia, the tragedy itself might dissipate; people living with dementia who exist in a manner outside of traditional social norms would be freed to explore the possibilities of their realities, and dementia would become as much an emancipatory space as it is a pathology (Foth & Leibing, 2022). Simply put, the way we discuss people living with dementia has a direct impact on their ability to live well (Cahill, 2021).

Selfhood and Personhood

Academia, for its part, is increasingly striving to unpack the complexities of living with dementia and to detail empirical and theoretical groundings for continued selfhood and personhood among people living with dementia. To clarify the difference between these two concepts, selfhood is a reflexive capacity and is connected to one's sense of oneself, whereas personhood is a sociopolitical capacity that is expanded and retracted as one's place in society is negotiated between oneself and others. The popular framework of "person-centered care" is founded on the understanding that the identity of people living with dementia does not diminish as dementia progresses but remains for as long as the people around the person living with dementia continue to grant that person their personhood and offer opportunities for their engagement in their selfhood (Kitwood, 1997).

It is a reasonable question to ask whether someone living with dementia continues to retain a sense of self throughout their disease progression. After all, people living with dementia are often considered to be detached from their surroundings, unable to engage in conversation, and unable to attend to their basic needs of daily living (Low & Purwaningrum, 2020). A biomedical perspective on dementia would label this the inevitable result of the brain disease causing the dementia in the first place. However, a social/relational lens allows the realization that the perceived loss of self is in fact not a result of the dementia but of the ways others view and treat the person living with dementia (Sabat & Harré, 1992). Some even consider the state of living with dementia to be one in which a person living with dementia can confront their internal life—their selfhood—with greater clarity and continuity, even if they cannot as easily express those internal explorations as cogently (Hutmacher, 2021). In addition, scholars are now extending the notion of selfhood to existing not solely in the realm of the sociocultural but also in the body itself, an embodied selfhood that comprises physical movements made by the body (Kontos, 2005). Such movements can be powerful, containing knowledge that can assist in direct care and support just as much as it can assist in interpersonal communication (Katz, 2013; Kontos & Naglie, 2007). Some scholars have even gone as far as to posit that the self is in fact more dividual than individual and exists in an inter-embodied fashion

amongst a person living with dementia and the people and places supporting their care (Jenkins, 2014; Kovan & Soled, 2022). In these ways and others, the description of selfhood for people living with dementia is being continually elaborated in qualitative research circles, with the resounding conclusion that selfhood is not extinguished even in the most progressed cases of dementia.

Yet for selfhood to translate into well-being, a person must also be granted personhood and be considered as a genuine member of their family, community, and society. Despite the proven nature of retained selfhood for people living with dementia, adequately supported personhood is far less reliable. First, it involves the simultaneous interaction between the person living with dementia and a multitude of external actors all of whom might have differing assumptions about even the very selfhood of the person living with dementia (Hennelly & O'Shea, 2021). Second, effectively upholding personhood requires thinking beyond the dominant philosophical frameworks—such as Cartesian mind-body dualism—that undergird Western cognitive life (Dewing, 2008). Some scholars purport that due to these complexities, personhood itself is too ethereal a concept to be useful for guiding actions to support the well-being of people living with dementia, instead urging a focus on "supporting people's existing capacities, while minimizing the harmful consequences of their incapacities" (Higgs & Gilleard, 2016, p. 773). Yet if we can successfully uphold personhood for people living with dementia in a manner that is systematic and institutionalized, we can re-integrate people living with dementia into the political and social systems as full citizens (Swinton, 2021), a necessary measure for a truly inclusive society.

The Role of Care Partners

Contrary to popular notions, most people living with dementia do not in fact live in institutional care setting like nursing homes or memory care communities. Rather, they live in their own homes, in their own communities, without direct daily support from the healthcare workforce (Chi et al., 2019). This positions family members as the primary care partners for most people living with dementia, and therefore an essential variable in the personhood equation that each person living with dementia and the people around them must balance. Given the sheer number of unpaid family care partners for people living with dementia in the United States—over 11 million as of 2021 (Alzheimer's Association, 2023)—significant effort has been dedicated to understanding what makes for a beneficial and rewarding care partnership.

Care partners that experience positive outcomes of care partnership—such as stronger relationships or personal meaning—enjoy increased well-being and report higher self-efficacy (Quinn & Toms, 2018), which is important considering that a sense of purpose in life for both care partners and people living with dementia contributes to more positive outcomes for both parties (Polenick et al., 2018). Conversely, decreased well-being has been connected to lowered care partner competence (Quinn et al., 2019). Care partner well-being is clearly an important factor in supporting the well-being of people living with dementia, and culture itself can have great bearing on such well-being; the average well-being of care partners has been shown to differ greatly between care partners of different racial backgrounds (Liu et al., 2020). In summary, just as a person living with dementia cannot be granted personhood in isolation, it is fundamentally incomplete to consider the

well-being of people living with dementia without also considering the well-being of their care partners (Miller et al., 2019).

Dementia in Indian Country

Most of the research cited in this thesis so far-and all the work pertaining to selfhood and personhood—was conducted with populations of European descent. In a search of the "Academic Search Premiere" database, the keyword combination "Indigenous AND Dementia AND Selfhood" returned no results. The keyword combination "Indigenous AND Dementia AND Personhood" returned only two results (Hulko et al., 2010; Yip et al., 2022), neither of which discussed personhood within the context of dementia amongst American Indian people. This gap in the academic literature is striking for two reasons. First, Native people are at a three-fold higher risk of developing dementia than members of the general population, and therefore American Indian and Alaska Native communities will be those most highly impacted by dementia and those which could most benefit from a robust understanding of how to support people living with dementia in preserving their personhood (Alzheimer's Association & Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019). Second, the core concepts of selfhood and personhood among American Indian and Alaska Native people already hinge on relationality and interembodiment (Bacigalupo, 2004; Krupat, 1991; Schwarz, 1997; Tinker, 1992), which represents a marked alignment with research-based portraits of selfhood within dementia. As such, American Indian and Alaska Native communities may be particularly suited to supporting the well-being of their members living with dementia.

Given that we already know that the concept of dementia and the experiences of people living with dementia and family care partners are influenced by cultural notions of health and wellness (Henderson & Henderson, 2002; Henderson & Traphagan, 2005), it is reasonable to hypothesize that American Indian people have come to different conclusions regarding dementia from those often encountered in Western cultures, and have been supporting the well-being of people living with dementia more capably because of that shift in understanding. Indeed, this hypothesis is supported by existing research that has explored perspectives on aging and memory loss amongst First Nations elders in Canada that identified the very notion of dementia itself as a culturally foreign label that interferes with traditional manners of supporting elders through age-related memory changes (Hulko et al., 2010).

The Power of Film

To summarize the above paragraphs, three things are clear. First, it is essential that we create opportunities for the general public to connect with the true identities of people living with dementia if disabling stigma is ever to be dismantled. Second, those identities comprise more than just the person living with dementia, but manifest as inter-embodied selves that are encapsulated within body movements and relationships with people and places as much as they are defined by personal histories, preferences, and goals. Third, it is of particular importance to expand our understanding of selfhood and personhood within dementia among Native people. Documentary film is the perfect tool for expanding our conceptions of dementia according to the needs at hand for three reasons: it can be readily disseminated and encountered publicly, can serve as the foundation for rigorous qualitative analysis, and honors the wisdom and full identities of indigenous people.

Documentary film is being increasingly employed to educate the public about dementia, however many films perpetuate the very dehumanizing narratives that need to be transformed (Zeilig, 2014). The films that do approach dementia from a more enlightened angle tend to highlight specific therapeutic approaches that might benefit the health and well-being of people living with dementia rather than unpacking the question of how to support their selfhood and personhood (Mills, 2018, 2021; Rossato-Bennett, 2014) or focus predominantly on the experience of care partners without exploring the experience of people living with dementia themselves (Mills, 2016). There is one film-titled Mumthat prompts in-depth consideration of how people living with dementia and their care partners might work together to all live well throughout the course of dementia, however the film is quite theatrical and abstract, potentially leaving viewers without any resolution to their considerations (Swinnen, 2013). It is also important to note that none of the aforementioned films discuss dementia within an American Indian context. A compelling and easy-to-follow documentary that foregrounds the conversation about selfhood and personhood among American Indian people living with dementia and their care partners is desperately needed.

Documentary film has the potential to be utilized academically in addition to popularly. Recent work has demonstrated the power of documentary film to serve not only as the output of qualitative research (Brandt et al., 2016; Petrarca & Hughes, 2014) but as the basis for qualitative analysis as well (Borish et al., 2021). Borish et. al. developed a new method of qualitative investigation they titled Video-Based Qualitative Analysis that combines the processes of qualitative data analysis and documentary film construction. Additionally, the method considers not only the transcripts of research interviews but also the physical expressions of interviewees and the locational context in which interviews take place. This opens the door for the examination of embodied aspects of selfhood in a manner that more traditional qualitative analysis does not, and recent explorations of personhood within dementia identify this sort of analysis as a needed contribution to the existing literature (Hennelly & O'Shea, 2021).

Lastly, documentary film is uniquely situated to authentically communicate knowledge held by indigenous individuals and communities in a manner that upholds their identities, preserves cultural and artistic modes of expression, and contributes to broader global conversations about indigenous sovereignty (Aufderheide, 2008; Bonny & Berkes, 2007; Rice et al., 2020).

The Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe

The Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe has approximately 3,000 enrolled members, approximately 1800 of which live on the tribe's 750-square-mile reservation 35 miles northeast of Reno, Nevada. The tribe joined the statewide Dementia Friendly Nevada initiative in 2018 and is among the first tribes in the country to begin considering dementia as a public health priority (Alzheimer's Association & Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2019). They named their Dementia Friendly Nevada Community Group "the Pesa Sooname Advisory Group." In Northern Paiute, "Pesa Sooname" means "Good Thought" or "Good Think," and their intentions for the group were to promote good thoughts toward people living with dementia and also to protect their own good thinking

through proactive measures to support brain health. Through my work with Dementia Friendly Nevada, I had the opportunity to build strong relationships with key tribal leaders. Given their preexisting interest in dementia and the already established working relationships I had cultivated, the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe represented an ideal population with which to partner for this study.

Purpose of the Study

The purposes for this study are twofold. First, this study fills a gap in existing knowledge, building on scholarship surrounding selfhood, personhood, and dementia and investigating the concepts within an American Indian population—the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe—for the first time. The knowledge gleaned from this work has the potential to expand our current notions of how selfhood evolves throughout someone's life with dementia and how someone's personhood can be best supported regardless of their living with dementia. It also lays a foundation for further exploration of these topics within American Indian communities: an essential step forward toward appropriate representation and equity in research.

Second, the execution of the aforementioned academic components of this study was accomplished through the production of a documentary film exploring supporters of well-being amongst people living with dementia and family care partners at the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe. This film can be mobilized broadly and therefore can steward the wisdom of Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe members to achieve impact amongst the population at large. Were it not for the production of this film in association with the academic research, the insights gleaned would not be translated into a medium of actual utility to people living with dementia and family care partners globally.

Theoretical Framework

Qualitative research typically involves the selection and utilization of a central theoretical framework that guides the development of research questions, the analysis of qualitative data, and the synthesis of themes and/or theories that add to existing knowledge about the study population (Denzin & Lincoln, 2017). Qualitative approaches such as Grounded Theory utilize inductive reasoning to generate theory that is "grounded" in the data to foster the emergence of understandings that might otherwise have been occluded by researchers' pre-existing assumptions, but even Grounded Theory strives to surface some measure of truth that can be compiled into humans' collective foundation of knowledge (Charmaz, 2014). This paradigm of conducting research on populations of interest for the benefit of humanity more broadly is problematic for two reasons. First, it presumes the capacity to fully capture and define the identities and characters of research participants. Since humans are constantly evolving and since no research methodology no matter how rigorous—could ever elucidate all there is to know about an individual, it is erroneous to make fundamental truth claims as the result of qualitative research. Second, such endeavors do little to benefit the research participants themselves, and thus represent a form of exploitation that can be criticized on both moral and practical fronts; the alienation of research participants from the goals of research efforts can jeopardize the success of future academic work with the study population. Arthur Frank (2005), paraphrasing and quoting Bakhtin (1984), summarizes the above points as follows:

Academic interrogation holds researchers responsible for rendering those whom they have studied "as something totally quantified, measured, and defined to the last detail." Dissertation committees, journal referees, and grant adjudication committees expect a research report to be able to claim of its subjects, "all of you is here, there is nothing more in you, and nothing more to be said about you." Those expectations, Bakhtin argues, are wrong. They are wrong both as an empirically adequate description of the human condition, and they are ethically wrong. (p. 965)

Research of this sort has been a hallmark of colonization amongst indigenous communities globally, and Native people have partnered with researchers committed to improving their discipline to suggest practices that must be upheld for research with indigenous communities to be both just and productive (Cochran et al., 2008; Jacklin & Kinoshameg, 2008; Warry, 2009), actively supporting decolonization in addition to simply doing no additional harm (Jones & Jenkins, 2008; Watson, 2022). Decolonization is defined as "the process of identifying and taking apart the institutions, policies and practices that the colonizers erected in order to diminish and/or destroy Indigenous cultures and traditional ways of life" (Hulko et al., 2010, p. 320). Accomplishing decolonization necessitates shifting perspectives away from extracting information *about* indigenous communities and considering them as the exotic "other"—research on—to instead seeking to foster reciprocal knowledge sharing and mutual growth (Jones & Jenkins, 2008)research with. The goal of decolonization should always be the self-determination of Indigenous people and communities (Simpson, 2008; Warry, 2009). This mandate of decolonization requires a dramatically different approach to research: one that prioritizes benefit to the research participant themselves and to the communities of which they are a part, and that does so without attempts at typification from outside academics.

Accordingly, this study is grounded firmly in a dialogical research paradigm. As described by Frank (2005), dialogical research resists the tendency to define and finalize

research participants according to any specific typologies, and instead understands people to be ever-evolving and fundamentally interconnected. Instead of yielding claims of capital-T "Truth," dialogical research evokes the life stories of research participants and offers an opportunity for participants to themselves interact with those very stories on their journeys of perpetual becoming. Michelle Tracy Berger's (2004) ethnography of women with HIV/AIDS who have engaged in political advocacy and activism presents an excellent example of dialogical research, and Frank (2005) describes her work as follows:

Dialogue *interrupts* monologue (Frank, 2000) and Berger presents women's perception of their experiences in order "to try to interrupt traditional assumptions about 'these' women" (p.79)... Berger's (2004) objective is not to institute a new typification, which would only substitute her finalization for the old one. She seeks, instead, to leave the reader with "as many unsettling questions as I can" (p. 79). Her report does not offer the monological assurance of knowing what certain lives consist of and what can be expected of them. She challenges and unsettles any finalization. As Berger depicts the lives of the women she studied, disease is their opening to an unfinalized new possibility of being. (p. 969-970)

In alignment with these principles, while this study does elucidate key themes about selfhood and personhood within the context of dementia for members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, the primary goal was always to partner with the Tribe—and in particular the research participants themselves—in an effort to increase their own understanding of their lives and their communities and to disrupt dominant assumptions about Native people, elderhood, and dementia through the prompting of unsettling questions, positioning disease as an "opening to an unfinalized new possibility of being" (Frank, 2005, p. 970).

An important element in this endeavor is the abdication of moral neutrality. In dialogical research,

The researcher can seek to affect the participant's future—analysis is in no sense morally neutral about good and bad future directions—but the basic recognition is

that this future is open. In existential terms, the claim of unfinalizability is a claim of freedom. (Frank, 2005, p. 967)

As such, this study's analysis draws judgements of participant responses, but does so in a fashion that unwaveringly respects their open and free future. This study seeks only to support participants—and their broader communities—in further exploring their struggles as themselves moral. Frank (2005) draws particular attention to this inherent component of dialogical research:

As the researcher necessarily offers or withholds recognition of people's struggles, she or he participates in the struggle to determine what the relevant standards of moral worth are among people whose lives can never fit the moral expectations of mainstream, middle-class society. The researcher is necessarily more than an observer of people's lives. She or he becomes an engaged witness whose recognition people seek as confirmation that their struggles are moral, at least in intent. The relevant standard of moral worth is neither relativist, situating moral worth solely within the conditions of one individual life, nor absolute, emanating from a space of no specific life. Dialogue is the space between those extremes. (p. 972)

Ultimately, this study purposely does not yield any finalities; it uncovers unseen complexities and informs further consideration and conversation.

METHODOLOGY

Partnership with the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe

Though the initial idea for this study was my own, it rested on my well-informed yet incomplete understanding of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe's goals related to knowledge gathering and storytelling on the topics of elderhood and dementia. I had worked with the tribe for nearly four years at the time, and I had come to realize their desire for mobilizing individual wisdom for the benefit of their community more broadly. For example, in 2019 the Tribe convened the first of a series of talking circles to discuss how they might best implement public health strategies toward brain health and dementia outlined in the CDC Healthy Brain Initiative Road Map for Indian County (2019). They did not want a sterile analysis of community needs and opportunities for action; they wanted their own people-elders, family members, and tribal staff-to share personal stories of how they support their own brain health so that existing strengths based in traditional practices might be leveraged to improve their health and well-being. For this study, I wanted to honor that intention and connect with tribal members to externalize their accrued wisdom surrounding the support of continued selfhood and personhood for people living with dementia, adding to their existing conversations about community development.

From the outset, this study was conducted in full partnership with the tribe. Hulko et al. (2010) specifically detail the importance of participatory research within an indigenous context:

Incorporating and respecting Indigenous worldviews and attending to research ethics or 'doing it in a good way' (Ball and Janyst 2008) requires that researchers locate themselves (Absolon and Willett 2005) and consult with First Nation communities from the outset, that the roles and responsibilities of researchers with respect to the participating communities be negotiated and agreed upon in advance of data collection, and that the research be of benefit to the community (see Cochran et al. 2008; Jacklin and Kinoshameg 2008). (p. 321)

The project was presented to the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribal Council for a discussion of how they would like to see the study unfold. In particular, honest and extended conversation was needed to explore my role in interviewing tribal elders, given that I am neither a tribal member nor Native. It was decided that my interviews with elders be conducted in collaboration with a tribal member. The Council also requested involvement in reviewing, finalizing, and disseminating the documentary film produced as a result of this project. They did not, however, express a desire to form an Advisory Team of tribal members to guide the work, as has been suggested as a best practice for research within indigenous communities (Borish et al., 2021; Hulko et al., 2010).

Study Populations and Participant Recruitment

It is without doubt that the true experts in the experience of living with dementia are people living with dementia themselves, and therefore it was a primary intention that the study population include people living with dementia. Based on available population data (United States Census, 2020) and dementia prevalence statistics (Alzheimer's Association, 2023), approximately 30 individuals are currently living with dementia at Pyramid Lake. However, to the best knowledge of key tribal research partners, no members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe are currently diagnosed with dementia; the nearest diagnostic infrastructure is located an hour away in Reno, and neuropsychiatric assessments are often considered less important than treatment to manage comorbid cardiovascular and metabolic conditions. Without formal diagnosis, changes in memory that could signify dementia might be disregarded, especially considering memory loss might be understood as a natural component of the life cycle, as demonstrated by Hulko et al. (2010) and reproduced in this study. Additionally, as mentioned later in this thesis, historical trauma and dementia stigma combine to produce conditions in which elders and family members are hesitant to publicly acknowledge they are living with memory loss that might be dementia. As a result, no people living with dementia or severe memory loss were engaged as participants in this study. However, a robust consideration of dementia at the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe was still possible through the collation of diverse perspectives, including elders, family care partners, and tribal staff who support the wellbeing of elders.

A total of nine participants from these target populations were interviewed for this study: five of whom were elders, three of whom self-reported memory changes due to age or injury, six of whom were present or former care partners for someone living with dementia, and eight of whom were tribal staff with a role in supporting the well-being of tribal elders. Eleven total interviews were conducted, ranging in length from 26 minutes to 73 minutes and averaging 51 minutes. Participants were recruited through convenience sampling, identifying individuals who might be interested in sharing their stories in connection to dementia and contacting those individuals to invite their participation. An email was also sent to all Tribal staff with a flyer advertising the opportunity to participate (flyer and email included Appendix A). No formal criteria were employed to determine prospective participants' eligibility. If an individual self-reported any involvement in supporting the well-being of elders in any way—personal or professional—that individual was welcomed to participate. No participation incentives were provided to participants of

this study, other than the ability to receive unedited versions of all visual media in which they are featured.

Research Ethics

Approval for this study was sought and obtained through the University of Nevada, Reno Institutional Review Board. Special attention was given to ensuring the informed consent of participants living with dementia, whose cognitive capacity might be diminished. Given that no participants living with dementia participated in this study, the matter did not end up being relevant. For the benefit of future qualitative research with people living with dementia, the specifics of the decided arrangement for engaging participants living with dementia are pertinent to report here.

No standardized assessment is used to determine a participant's capacity to consent, as no such single tool exists. Additionally, from a legal standpoint, people living with dementia are presumed to retain their capacity to consent unless formally proven otherwise in a court of law. From the American Bar Association's and American Psychological Association's *Assessment of Older Adults with Diminished Capacity* handbook,

Capacity to provide informed consent for research participation depends on the complexity of the study in question. That is, a person may have capacity to make an informed decision about a simple low-risk study, such as one that requires a paper and pencil interview, but not have sufficient capacity to make an informed decision about a study involving more complex procedures, such as surgery. (p. 132)

Given this study's low-risk nature, the vast majority of people living with early to moderate dementia would retain capacity to consent. As an extra measure to ensure ethical research standards, any individuals with either financial or medical durable powers-of-attorney would not have been engaged as research participants in this study, given the potential that those individuals would be experiencing diminished decision-making capacity. However, it is important to note that individuals with powers-of-attorney are legally capably of deciding to participate in research, and ought to be offered the opportunity to do so. Decisions about participation in research can be made only by the individual participant in questions or by a court-appointed guardian, not by their powers-of-attorney.

Participants were provided a letter of informed consent (included in Appendix B) at the time of their first interview and were engaged in discussion about the contents of the letter to confirm full understanding of their rights as research participants and the details of their participation. Because this project entailed video-recorded interviews that would be utilized within a publicly disseminated media product, an additional form (included in Appendix B) was provided to research participants outlining ways in which their likeness might be utilized and requesting informed consent for each specific channel. Given the film component of the project, participants were not ensured of confidentiality. All participants consented to having their name, likeness, and other personal information discussed in the interviews shared publicly through both academic and popular channels.

Interview Structure

Dialogical research aims to support participants and their communities in confronting and externalizing their internal conversations in the hopes of expanding those conversations and developing them into a well-considered future. It would therefore be counterproductive to approach interviews with research participants as solely information gathering endeavors, as such interactions would offer no mechanism for participants themselves to engage *in dialogue* with the researcher and with themselves, positioning

them to accomplish the growth central to the purpose of dialogical research. As such, interviews for this study were intentionally designed to avoid feelings of formality and sterility; the more comfortable participants could be, the more likely they would engage with the interaction as they would genuine conversation. The location and timing of interviews was decided entirely by research participants, with participants being encouraged to choose a setting in which they felt most themselves and that meant something to them. For some participants this was at home or at work, while for others it was the shores of Pyramid Lake or a meaningful community gathering place.

A select number of interview questions were prepared in advance and were organically incorporated into the conversation. For all participants, conversations extended beyond the boundaries defined by these questions, however the questions provided a framework to ensure some continuity between the topics of discussion from one interview to the next. The minimum questions asked of each participant were as follows:

- Please introduce yourself however you would like to do so.
- What role have elders played in your life?
- What does it mean to be an "elder?"
- What is your connection to dementia?
- What do elders living with dementia still have to contribute to their communities?
- What does it mean to live well?
- What are your hopes for your community for the future?
- What are your hopes for yourself for the future?
- When you hear the words "Pesa Sooname," what does that mean to you?

Following the "sit-down" conversations, participants who were not limited by time constraints were asked if they would like to continue the interview in a walking fashion, touring the interview location and unpacking their connection with that place. Four participants agreed to this second, dynamic interview component. All participants were interviewed at least once. Two participants were contacted for follow-up interviews, and both agreed.

Video-Based Dialogical Analysis

Throughout data collection, the documentary film and qualitative research components of this project were inextricably linked; interviews served the simultaneous purposes of soliciting participant testimony, opening a space for the conversation component central to dialogical research, and filming of a visually compelling scene to be incorporated into a feature-length documentary film. This complete overlap between the creative and academic project elements did not end after data collection; it permeated data analysis as well. Qualitative research typically entails the coding of transcribed interviews to uncover and construct an underlying theoretical structure that offers some degree of unifying explanatory power. Documentary film production entails the separation of recorded content by theme and the careful development of a narrative arc connecting those themes in a manner that offers viewers a lens through which they perhaps have not seen before and therefore an opportunity for new understanding about an important topic. These two endeavors, while rarely utilized in tandem, are indeed perfectly analogous. David Borish et al. (2021) developed an approach called "Video-Based Qualitative Analysis" that leverages the process of editing a documentary film as the manner through which qualitative data is analyzed. This new method of qualitative investigation considers not only the transcripts of research interviews but also the physical expressions of interviewees and the locational context in which interviews take place, both dimensions of interaction easily captured and considered through a visual medium, opening the door for the examination of embodied and inter-embodied aspects of selfhood in a manner that more traditional qualitative analysis does not.

Video-Based Qualitative Analysis holds great potential for diversifying the way in which we conduct qualitative research, yet it is undeniably grounded in a traditional, *monological* research paradigm that strives to finalize and typify. The method is well positioned for such research, as coding documentary video data is relatively straightforward using only existing features offered through popular documentary film editing software. Dialogical research, however, involves no such formal coding; broad thematic consideration is as definitive as dialogical research ever should be. As such, this study utilizes and documents an adapted "Video-Based Dialogical Analysis" approach that remains in alignment with dialogical research principles. Within the process of coding the data, this adaptation entailed the decision to code entire participant responses rather than separating those responses into more discrete, topically specific segments. Such a decision honored the intention of dialogical research to avoid parsing and finalizing elements of participant identities. Following coding and the delineation of primary and sub-themes, the adapted approach requited an additional analytical step. Once identified, themes were collected and organized according to their role in participants' exploration of a series of empirically generated questions guiding participants' perpetual becoming and that of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe more broadly. Those questions were then utilized to generate a narrative representing the story of dementia at pyramid lake, and the reported results below represent that story.

RESULTS

This study's results are reported in a manner that reproduces whole participant responses—and sometimes even more extended conversations with participants—rather than quoted excerpts. Retaining the full context surrounding evocative quotes allows for themes to be observed as they occur in tandem with each other and still presents the opportunity to trace a narrative thread through those themes. There is good precedent for such an approach to reporting results in other dialogical research publications. Frank (2005) describes the research of Paul Draus (2004) as an example of such a report:

In Draus's shared space, the participants genuinely participate. Notably, their stories are not edited to fit the analytic needs of the report. Draus's dialogical relation of researcher to participant requires allowing people's stories to continue well beyond what would be required to provide an illustration. Draus makes no pretense at presenting an analytic framework—whether explanatory or descriptive—that contains every aspect of the stories he presents. On the contrary, the stories, in both length and scope of content, exceed whatever he is able or willing say about them. The effect of reading Draus, which is difficult to render in a description of his writing, is to experience people who unpredictably exceed what can be said about them. Draus never romanticizes these people's lives; he shows them in all their brutality and self-destructiveness. But he also allows them the dignity of making choices that cannot be reduced to social scientific explanations. (p. 970-971)

The conversations had with participants as part of this study opened the doors to a

collective story of identity, community, and dementia that is being actively lived and

elaborated by members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe.

Identity and Community at Pyramid Lake

The word "identity" conjures notions of the individual, and indeed participants communicated strong personal selves through their responses. Identity is by definition unique to each person, however common themes emerged as participants discussed the foundational elements of their identity and the aspects of self they hoped to support in others: land, family, service, and health.

Participants expressed a strong connection to the land of the Pyramid Lake Reservation itself, with Pyramid Lake as a place and the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe as a people being inextricably linked. In reflecting on our conversation together, one participant—an elder woman who works as the Tribal Museum and Cultural Center mentioned:

It was an enjoyable little session that we had here and, you know, like listening, just listening to the waves and the little-- the little things that's going on around us, you know. It's-- That's what it is. That's why I like being here, you know. It's just all the stuff that we have, you know, that makes us who we are and how you feel, makes you feel good in your heart, makes your heart, you know, skip a beat. It's just how-- how the land is, you know, to be as a people. That makes this, you know.

Later, as we walked together along the beach, she added that Pyramid Lake as a place helps

her stay connected to herself through being connected to her memories.

And that's what I like doing out here, and the thing that drives me, is this. Is doing this. Like this. It takes my heart away when I see all these beautiful rocks and this-- the ice. You know, the ice formations and stuff like that. It makes it. It brings back memories of when I used to play on the river. Of being with the ice and stuff. As a little girl I used to play along the river with my brother in the ice. It used to be really, really cold.

In addition to supporting one's connection with oneself, a strong connection with the land also fosters important connections with family for people at Pyramid Lake. In an unfolding conversation with one participant—who serves as the Director of Senior Services for the tribe—it became clear that a continued connection with the land was the vehicle through which she received support from her family growing up, through which she now offers that same support to her younger family members and her broader community, and elderhood in the coming years.

Participant: When I lived in Southern California, I had a friend that-- she used to tell me, "I'm a houseplant. You're a tree." And I used to think, "She's a librarian. She's got a really big, good imagination. Houseplant versus tree." So, one day I finally asked her, "What are you talking about? You're a houseplant and I'm a tree?" She says, "Well, I'm a houseplant. You know how houseplants live in a pot in one spot? You move it from here to there. The roots just go round and round. It only gets so big. And then eventually it dies. You throw it out. Just get rid of it." She says, "I'm a houseplant. I have no roots." Because, where she lived in downtown LA is now a parking garage. She says, "I can never go home." She says, "You, on the other hand, you're a tree." She says, "You know what your roots are. You know who your family is. Your roots can go on forever because you're a tree. You can keep growing and have lots of family around you." She says, "You probably even know where you're going to be buried when you die." And I went, "Well, yeah." She says, "I don't know. What do you do with a houseplant when it dies? You throw it out." She says, "You probably have a place already." And I said, "Actually, I do. You know, I know where I'm going." She says, "So you're a tree and I'm a houseplant." Sad.

Interviewer: So, let's think about-- take this metaphor one step further. What do you feel have been the aspects of living here at Pyramid Lake that have helped your tree to grow? Like, how have you-- What have been your nutrients throughout your life? What has helped you to grow?

Participant: I guess to help me to grow as I was growing up was family. You know, we had-- I knew my great grandma, my mother's mother. I knew my grandmother's sisters. I knew how people were related. I guess having other trees around me because we all knew who we were and where we came from. So, I wasn't a lonely tree. You know, I always had family around. Grandparents. Great grandparents. Community, you know, because everybody just kind of looked out for each other. And I guess that helped me to be a good straight tree.

Interviewer: And on the other side of things, what do you feel like-- What fruit have you produced to feed the community? What has your tree given back?

Participant: What have I given back? I think being raised to take care of people. I'll give you an example. My grandma had eight children and raised eight others. She took in and helped raise eight others. So that was kind of like my role model, was to take care of people. You know, she was very important to me, very significant. And giving back is not-- I don't know what you would call it, like being service minded. Giving back, sharing what I know, you know. A lot of times I believe that, like old stories-- We used to have an elder come in to tell us stories when we

were in like first and second grade. So, just giving back, because it's not my story. It's-- it was his story, and somebody gave it to him. So, giving back is always really important to me. My kids used to hate going anywhere with me where I volunteered because I would like be one of the last ones that are making sure everything was getting put away. You know, it's like I just-- they would-- now they go in separate cars because yeah, I'm going to stay and I'm going to help. That's just what I do. It's the way I was raised and say it's giving back, you know. Someday I won't be able to, you know, so right now I am. So, I do. I hope for myself to be healthy enough to be able to take care of myself. You know, I don't want to have to be a burden on my kids and I think many of our elders don't want to be a burden on their children. So, I worry about that. You know, when my son got sick recently, I thought, "He's always there for me. Who's going to take care of me?" You know. I used to joke with him and I said to him, "You bury me or I bury you." Yeah. So, you know, I'd love to see my grandkids grow up and be healthy and happy.

So, a strong connection to the land fosters a strong connection to family. The importance of family was something shared by every participant in some fashion, and frequently the lines between oneself and one's family were fluid. Commonly, participants introduced themselves by also sharing information about their close family. One participant, an elder who serves as a Councilwoman on the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribal Council, introduced herself as follows:

"My name is Harriet Brady. I'm a tribal citizen of Pyramid Lake. My grandmother is Nona Garcia and my grandfather is Roy Garcia and my mom is Elaine Joan Garcia."

I followed her introduction with a question about the practice of incorporating family members into one's introduction, asking her why she felt it was important to include her family members in this way. Sitting in her home, surrounded by family photos, she responded:

Mainly because you show who you are, because a lot of times people don't know who you are if you're not embedded in a community. But then, like my grandpa, he worked for the Bureau of Indian Affairs on the roads department. He traveled around a lot and all the tribes are interconnected in one way or another, but he also sat on the Tribal Council. So, for me, it's easier to identify like that and to honor and acknowledge who your people are, that lineage, because a lot of times the older people will say, "Oh, I know who you are." Which is funny because as an older person that I am now, I do that even with my own students. "I know who you are." But you do make those connections. It's those family ties, and it's important that you know that background. So, that's one of the strongest points that seemed to be-- that was always there. You just always do that...

I think that is a cultural practice, because rather than saying "me, me, me, " that you acknowledge the other people. I know people on the outside basically wanna-- "Who are you?" basically. And it is all about you. Whereas when you're in Native communities, indigenous communities, it's like, "Who are you?" And then you acknowledge all your family, because it's just not you. It's a community, basically.

As seen in this response, just as self flows into family, family also flows into community. Each participant was asked about their hopes for themselves for the future, as a way to support participants in imaging the person they hope to continually become. Repeatedly those hopes pertained to service to family and to the broader community. Sometimes, this service was described as simply helping one another in daily life. Other times, service was something more institutional, to be achieved through continued vocational work. According to the Councilwoman, her sense of service entailed both of these ideals:

[I hope] that I can be as healthy as I can to continue. I try my best to volunteer, you know, like I try to help out with the powwow, like serving the elders. I want to continue to be able-bodied enough to do stuff like that. I don't want to become feeble, you know. If there's anything that I fear, it's being feeble and not being able to do the things that I want to do. I like to take care of my yard and help out my family and my community as much as I can. A lot of times, you know-- There's a lot of people who do stuff. I mean, it's just not me. There's a lot of people who do stuff for the community, and they don't have to boast about it. And even though I did kind of talk about it, it's still kind of uncomfortable because you're really not there for yourself. You're doing it for the betterment of the community, even if it's picking up trash, even if it's, you know, like cleaning up the post office. Doing little things like that can help out. But my thing is just to be healthy enough to keep on doing those kind of things, to always be there to help out. And I know sometimes my students will ask me, you know, like, "When are you going to retire?" And I was like, "There's no thought of that." As long as I can, you know, keep managing my classroom and teaching, I just, you know, I don't think about it. You just keep going, because that's what my grandma did. I mean, she worked all the way up until she did retire, and

it seemed like she kind of went downhill after she retired because, you know, she wasn't getting up early. She still got up early, I mean, but, you know, as far as going to work and stuff. I think that sense of worth kind of went away a little bit, even though she had her house and her yard was really good and things like that. That sense of helping other people, you know, like work-wise-- Because she used to be a housekeeper, and so she was always on the go, going upstairs, going downstairs, making sure people cleaned rooms properly, things like that. I think that does, you know, fall within that range of feeling good about yourself, because you're doing something, making something look nice.

This participant's vocation happened to be teaching, however notions of service across participants were specifically connected to teaching younger generations essential components of Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe culture in both formal and informal ways, while still continuing to engage in those cultural traditions oneself. The Director of the Tribal Museum and Cultural Center, herself an elder, described her desire for service in this fashion:

Well, I continually have hopes for myself and I would say probably on the top of that list, I want my grandchildren to know who they are, where they come from, that they know, you know, their spirituality, teachings, that they know ceremony, that they know how to pray, that they can incorporate their culture and language as much as possible. So, continue to learn our Paiute language, our native language. And with that comes other aspects, with prayer and learning traditional arts, whatever it may be. And that's probably my most important hope, because I want our people to continue to survive, and it's up to our young people to maintain that and keep it going, and I have full faith in that.

My other hopes are health-wise, you know, to continue to be healthy as I can and to continue working as long as I can, but in between having fun, which means traveling and doing-- attending ceremonies or meeting new people. Sometimes it may be a conference, it might be a powwow. I recently started dancing again, and I love to, you know, go to powwows and dance. That makes me feel good and it makes me feel like I'm honoring our ancestors.

As evidenced by nearly all participant responses regarding service, including the two above, remaining in good health was considered necessary in order for participants to manifest their desired future selves. Identity for study participants, then, seems to arise from and be enabled by a strong connection with place and history that positions participants to further that history through their own family and to become their full selves through being of service to their broader community in a variety of ways. Therefore, for research participants, being oneself necessitates active citizenship, and thus their selfhood and personhood are in fact entwined.

A Confluence of Ideologies at Pyramid Lake

The unbreakable relationship between selfhood and personhood described above was further expounded by research participants throughout their discussion of a single, central tension that bears on the well-being of both individuals and community: the negotiation of traditional and Western ideologies. Participants discussed three examples of this tension as particularly pertinent for supporting the selfhood and personhood of elders and people living with dementia, relating to service, care, and dementia itself.

To Serve or Be Served?

Historically, elders at Pyramid Lake have been among the most active members of the community, occupying positions of leadership and accepting the responsibility of guiding their community toward the future. Participants' descriptions of this serviceoriented conceptualization of elderhood were at times quite grand in their connection to community survival, as demonstrated by the Senior Services Director's portrayal of many of her family members:

I think that going back generations, we've always had people that have always been of service to the people. I have a, probably about a fourth great grandpa, who his Indian name was Numana... "father of the people." When they were going to create the reservation—the Pyramid Lake Reservation—he outlined it. He went mountain top to mountain top and said, "If you're going to force our people to live here, then this is what we want." And he went, because he said the mountains will never change. So, from mountain top to mountain top to mountain top, he went all the way around Pyramid Lake. And through those high mountains around the lake, he identified this as our point. "If you're going to make us live on a reservation, this is what we want." My grandma used to say that in her lifetime, those mountains disappeared, and I never understood what she meant, because they're still there. And she said, "No, they disappeared. In my lifetime, they disappeared." And I finally figured that what she meant was the boundary line of the reservation kept creeping in. As the government saw that we didn't need-- that people were leaving because they were migratory people, people would come and go. So, the government would come in and see that there weren't a lot of people here at certain times of the year. So, they'd decrease the size of the reservation, and the reservation boundary line is on this side of the mountain, the mountain that she said disappeared.

Yeah, but we've always had people in the family on Tribal Council. We've always had people on committees. My grandma, who wasn't real-- she would never run for Council. And maybe it was because back in those days, women didn't sit on Council. But she was active with the Election Committee because she wanted it to be done right and done fair. So, she was always-- as far back as I can remember, she's been on the Election Committee for the tribe. And I have uncles who've sat on Council. My mom has sat on Council. I've sat on Council, been on School Board, just of service to our community.

The service elders provide to the community was described at a more interpersonal scale,

too, in addition to a sociopolitical one. The same participant also said this of her

grandmother:

You know, I think back-- I'm not an elder yet, but I think back at-- Our elders probably didn't think they were elders either. They were living their lives helping, because they were always helping. Teaching, sharing, but that's just the way life was. They probably never saw themselves as elder, because I know my grandma didn't slow down. She was always busy. I don't think she thought of herself as an elder. It's kind of a new-- I guess-- or a different mentality. I know my grandma and them didn't like to be served. She would rather be up doing the serving. You know, at funerals or gatherings, family gatherings. She wouldn't sit and wait to be fed. She would make sure everybody ate. And I know that's one thing that I know that I've seen in my lifetime. That it changed. And maybe it's another culture's thought that you have to cater to your elders. But it was different. It was just different. She didn't like that. She wanted to be the one serving people. And it just kind of changed somewhere. But I guess that's just life. We've adapted. Things have changed. What is means to be an elder at Pyramid Lake, then, is being re-evaluated and redefined. Participants associated elderhood in a traditional sense with being of service to family and community, but now elderhood is beginning to be associated with a need to be served, following more widespread adoption of Western ideologies toward aging and care. Often, the two competing understandings of elderhood were juggled by individual participants, even within single responses such as this one from an elder who serves as the Director of the tribe's Social Services program:

Elderhood could be, like, a noble status in your community, when the community places the elders in high esteem and when the community takes extra measures to protect them and to provide for their emergent needs, immediate needs. It's important that our elderly people are revered with honor despite a lifetime of what could be viewed as not so good. But our people are still valuable. I have a very close friend who is 71, and he is starting to have, like, a little bit of memory loss. But when we are together, he talks Paiute to me. He'll remember some old dance songs that the Pyramid Lake Pageant Group singers used to sing, because his father was one of their performers, and he would talk about those kind of things, the cultural values that we have. I'm really grateful that he is still with us in our community because he shares quite a bit of things and I think that's what elderhood is, when our elders are able to recall historical knowledge and oral traditions and are willing to share those things with our younger people.

Participants also revealed some degree of sense-making within the apparent juxtaposition

between these two ways of thinking. One young participant in his twenties, who works in

the tribe's Language and Culture Program, described how he felt the best way to be in

service to elders involves letting them be in service to him:

I know one thing that you see happen a lot now is elders being told to go first. And it-- I guess in a large like community setting that's normal, but it's like, in a smaller setting, it's like-- We grew up and the older people were served. And I think that's one way of showing respect, is you, you know, you acknowledge that they have done a lot and it's kind of hard for them to move around so you go and get them their food for them... I think that just being willing to help them when they ask for help is the main thing, like just the way you interact with someone. I know there's a lot of times we've just turned around and-- We had plans for a day, and then those plans get completely shaken up because someone says, "Well, can you help me with this?" and they're older. "Yeah, we'll be right over." And then we'll be rushing around to get our other plans done afterwards, but it's like, you kind of take your time out of the day just to make sure something's done. Or like, when you go to someone's house, you don't go empty-handed. I think that's something we try not to do is, if we're going to someone's house and make sure we bring something with us. And at the same time, it's like-- it's also awkward because then they'll say "Well stay and eat," or "Stay and do this," and you know you kind of have to. You don't just turn around and say, "Okay, I'm leaving, bye." You know, you stay, and you listen to them with whatever they have to say.

Where to Care?

Just as Western society has influenced what is means to be an elder at Pyramid Lake, it has also impacted conceptions of where elders—particularly elders living with dementia—should spend their final years to experience the care they need and be their full selves. Participants perceived that Western modes of thought surrounding elderhood promote long-term residential care as a primary option, resulting from deeper cultural undertones of individualism. Some participants, including the Councilwoman, were adamant that Pyramid Lake be insulated from such an ideology:

I think it is fully ingrained in our community to where, because of that identification of who we belong to, who's connected with us-- I think that's what makes it harder to let go. Whereas in the outside society—and you can never stereotype or just say it's across the board—but it just seems to be prevalent of their self-centeredness. You know, like, "Nobody's gonna intrude upon my life. I'm not gonna deal with that. And I'll just-- I have the means. I'll just shove 'em away and shelf 'em." We don't like to do that. We still-- I mean, I remember one of the community members, she was always brought to things, even though, you know, she wasn't the person that she was. She had started her transition to where she didn't recognize her family or, you know, it was just different. But the family hung on. The family took her places. So-- And then you'd see those little glimpses, you know, like where, whatever reason, then she recognizes something. And I think that's important because that can make somebody feel comfortable, like they recognize that, rather than shelving them and putting 'em with different people who have no connection. Their faces aren't familiar, you know, their-- the way they talk or, you know, just the setting is different. And so, it's just real sad when you see people being shelved. So, I think there is a difference. And I think that's why the family tries to make sure that the people are comfortable in their setting where they're at.

The communal core of Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe culture was invoked as a potential strength to be leveraged in helping elders living with dementia continue to live with their families and in their communities. A participant—not yet an elder—who works as the police officer for the Tribal Health Clinic gave her thoughts on community.

I think community is a big thing, because the reservation-- and I see it here, is everyone's always willing to help everyone. And I think as a community, as a whole community, everyone comes together, you know, they come together for funerals, for the most part. And I think when someone's sick, you know, everyone knows and tries to do what they can to help that person. And even people who are homebound for whatever reason, and maybe they're homebound for dementia, I don't know-- I don't know who all has it. I think the community, you know, the Tribal Health Clinic, their neighbors, it's, you know, how they say, it takes a, what-- a community to raise, or whatever. It also is takes a community to help care for people that might have that. I think that's the big thing, is community. You know I- You don't see that in big cities really, because everyone's kind of, you know-- They're big cities. But here everyone kind of knows everyone. They know their families, they know their mom, they know their dad, their grandma, you know, and they might have known them since they were young. So, it's like, yeah, you care about them, and maybe not in a such a familial way, but you know what, you care what happens to them and you may want to help them. And I think that will help, you know, someone who has dementia or their family, may need support, you know, they may need cooking or something done, you know. So, community is a big thing. I think that's one aspect.

Participants did, however, acknowledge the potential necessity for long-term care for tribal

elders living with dementia, while continuing to reinforce the immense benefits of keeping

families together. The same participant noted:

There's a lot of people with dementia in homes, and yes we had to temporarily put [my dad] in a home, but I think-- and I know-- it's good and bad. Because, you know, [my stepmom] took care of my dad at home. She would, you know, do his diet and-- because he ate better, you know, he was always bathed, he was always clean, we always tried to include him in conversations as best we could, decisions. I think giving him that love and care kept him going for, what, another four more years. And a reason I believe that too is because when my little sister, their child-- She had muscular dystrophy, she was in a wheelchair, so she had to have that care, and when she was first diagnosed, when she was three or four or younger than that, actually, because she couldn't-- she wasn't crawling, they said she'd live till three or four. She was still alive. Next thing you know they said she'd live till eight, or seven or eight. She lived to be 21, and I really think it was the love given at home and the care, and not being put in a home. And I'm not critical of that. People have their own lives, but that's what I think. [My stepmom] was able to do that because she's retired. A lot of people aren't so they have to do that, and I know that because my mom's in a home right now. But I think that's what helped him live longer, because he got his health back in check.

Gender roles motivated some discussions of the necessity of long-term residential

within the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, as outlined by the Director of Social Services.

Participant: I think that if I realized that I could no longer care for myself, then I would probably have to arrange for assisted living or a place where dementia care is available to me. I have two adult sons and they're living their lives, and the last thing they want to think about is having to take care of their mom. They've always been very independent and I'm proud of that for them. I think that now they're realizing that I am getting older. They ask me questions about how I'm doing and what's going on.

Interviewer: So, you wouldn't say that they feel like they would want to play the role that you and your mom played for your grandmother?

Participant: I don't think so.

Interviewer: What do you think creates that difference?

Participant: I think it's because it's the role of a man that it's not the man's place to be taking care of an elder female family member. But I do have a twelve-year-old granddaughter who says, "When you're old, Grandma, I'm going to come and live with you and take care of you." I told her that I'm not going to get old.

Yet those gender roles themselves are being actively reconsidered given their relationship

with colonial ideologies. The Museum and Cultural Center Director provided context for

these changes.

A matriarchal society, you know-- Traditionally the women always had a say, you know, as far as decisions, and when the, you know, when we were colonized, it put patriarch in into everything, like the man has the last word, the man has the say. So, it minimized the role of the women, and I think now in contemporary times people are realizing that, you know, the women do have a lot of strength and knowledge, courage, and, you know, they can make very good decisions, you know, on behalf of the people. Because as mothers, we have that instinct to, again, protect

our children and, you know, have that foresight to know what's going to be good for our children down the road.

Just as was the case for participants' consideration of the role of elders, within this societal conversation about long-term care, participants expressed efforts to make sense of the tension by integrating the two perspectives. The Director of Social Services discussed:

My hope for the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe is that our tribe will be able to manage a care facility for our people here. We have an increasing number of people who are becoming 60 years old and over. It's very hard to have to put our own people into a nursing home because-- A lot of times that's what my job includes, is having to prepare elders for end of life. That's really difficult for me because I come to a place where I revere these people that I have to provide assistance to, and then to be a place to have to help them decide end of life decisions. It would be my lifetime goal is to see that we had like an elder village here in Nixon, where our tribe and our housing authority can provide several alternative dwelling units, small little trailers where our elders can live independently. But I think that we need to have good accessible facilities for dementia care as well.

Dementia: Lost or Found?

The final cognitive dissonance seeded by the cooccurrence of Western and traditional ideologies at Pyramid Lake indicated by participants pertained directly to dementia. Participants discussed a deep-seated traditional understanding of memory changes associated with dementia that was contextualized within the expected progression of aging. According to the young participant working in the Language and Cultural Program:

So, growing up, we never really heard anything, talk about that. It was always just, "Oh, they're just being old." It was never a discussion. There was never a diagnosis. It wasn't noticed. And then working-- from the point when I started working, we worked with the clinic, under the clinic. And I guess you kind of hear diagnoses more, but you still didn't hear that. You never heard Alzheimer's, dementia. You never really heard any diagnosis or any of that kind of stuff. And it's only in the last few years when we started hearing about it, that you really start noticing it in elders or with people coming in. And it's just subtle things at first. And then you slowly watch it progress. There is in fact no Northern Paiute word for dementia. When asked about this, the same

participant mentioned:

I think a lot of them--- a lot of the normal thought is, "Well, you're getting older, you're gonna start, you know, losing your ability to do things." And I think it was just common knowledge that that was gonna, you know-- it was a progression at some point, that you weren't gonna be able to walk so good, you weren't able to remember as well, or you know, a lot of that kind of stuff. And again, there was a lot of ways that you took care of someone or, you know, a lot of ways that you eased their burden so that they didn't have to do as much anymore. You kind of limited their-- their-- you kind of just eased their burden, I guess.

Without a pathological narrative to mold cultural attitudes toward dementia, other manners

of thinking about the condition were allowed to solidify. An elder who is versed in the

traditional healing arts of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe recounted the way his dad taught

him to consider elders living with cognitive changes.

Dementia, you know, like we were saying, my dad said sometimes the spirit will leave for a little while and come back. But because the body's still alive, the spirit has to come back. But sometimes when that happens, people will forget, or they won't remember things, or they won't remember people. And sometimes they'll see maybe people that follow them, their family members that follow them back. And a lot of times, you know, in the old days they'd call a medicine man, a puhagum, to come and pray for them. They'd paint them. Sometimes they'd do his personal colors and put an abalone shell and tie it here, right on the forehead. This is like in our old way, another place where you can see, by closing your eyes, what you can see through this. You know, we got places, power places in your body. And they'll use those, you know, they'll use those points to pray with-- to put medicine on there and help you. And that's where they'll use that...

And that's how they would help them when the spirit kind of leaves or for whatever reason, it just goes and comes back. Maybe in a dream it'll take off and come back. Sometimes you dream and you're in another place or you'll see all the old people, your ancestors, that's gone or you'll see people that's long gone and they come to see you. And sometimes it's like traumatic for whatever reason, you know, it traumatizes you and you'll forget things. That's why they have to pray for them like that, use the medicines like that, you know, to take care of you. As this participant mentioned, there are immense gifts to be found within the context of dementia, and there are also hardships experienced by people living with dementia as a result of their condition. Dementia, therefore, is more of a change than it is a loss. This approach to dementia as a change in perspective was echoed by the Councilwoman:

I think if you look at, like, their little hobbies-- I don't want to minimize it, their hobbies, you know, what they were doing before, trying to make sure that you're still offering something familiar to them. I think that that's beneficial. You know, that they are surrounded by love and care. I think that that gives them that sense of well-being, even though we may not recognize it. I think that we just have to try to be as supportive as we can, not yelling, not getting frustrated, even though it is frustrating. But just trying to help them out as much as, you know, whatever little thing that, you know, you can find. I mean, I've seen stuff on social media where people are doing things like that, and involving them in, you know, day-to-day activities.

Like, I just saw one recently with this little grandma sitting there, and then she was given a present. And it was cute watching her because, you know, just by that sense of what they had written, you know, that this wasn't the same person that they grew up knowing. But yet, it was almost like looking at a situation through a different pair of lenses. And I think if you look at it like that, that maybe it's more livable for yourself, you know, to understand. Almost like-- I don't want to diminish it by saying, "Oh, they're just like little kids." But if you remember how the lens is for a child, you know, this is something that's new to them. You can't expect them to know everything because they haven't learned it. They haven't experienced it. But then just to understand that perhaps that, you know, even though you know this, maybe that person, because of their transition, maybe they have a different lens to look through. And then that you have to be supportive of that and find that same joy like that little grandma was expressing joy of opening that present. You just have to try your best to understand that part of it.

Considering dementia in this way, as a "...different lens to look through ... " creates

opportunities for well-being among more than just people living with dementia themselves.

The police officer for the Tribal Health Clinic reported the impact of a dementia-related

shift in cognitive perspective on her personally as a care partner for her father.

But my dad, I mean he remembered stuff from being in the Air Force that I never heard. He would tell me stuff I didn't hear before, and I'm like-- and so there's a value there. I learned something new that I probably wouldn't have learned if he didn't have dementia, because he remembered what happened in 61 or 62 and I'm like, "You did what? You were in Alaska?" you know. And you know, and I'm like, "I didn't know you went to Alaska," you know, or whatever. And so, I think there's probably some value there, and I don't think our community would devalue them. So, they would still be an elder and still be important. It's just they would need more care, you know.

Acknowledging dementia as a natural part of existence and withholding value judgement regarding the changes associated with dementia informed participants on how best to approach care and support for people living with dementia. Dementia need not, and in fact should not, be "fixed," even while acknowledging immense challenge and heartbreak; instead, people living with dementia ought to be supported in their experience. The elder Museum and Cultural Center staff member told a story illustrating this outlook.

You know, it was sad too because, you know, I'd bring my kids to visit and he wouldn't know them. We talked to him and told him, "Hey, this is Dominic. This is Leanna. This is Penny," you know. He would look at them and he said, "I don't know them," you know, and it was hard. Because you couldn't, um-- He couldn't relate to us, you know. And it's, you know, it's sad because, you know, it took my grandpa's life. You know, my grandpa passed away from that, from dementia. So that's why, you know, I-- when I see elders that are having difficulty, you know, I always try to help them. I'm always trying to help people, you know, because that's where I came from, you know. I've seen that, and dementia is-- It's a terrible thing. It's a terrible thing to deal with with your family. They fight with you. You try not to fight back with them because you know they're-- it's not their fault, of what they're going through. And you just try to be there for them and help them as best as you can, and just try to steer them. You know, take their meds or get up in the morning, you know. Grandpa used to always put his shirt on backwards and he'd say, "Don't put it on right," you know, "I gotta put it on backwards," you know, he'd always be shirt on backwards. But we just button it and just leave him be, you know, because if you would fight with him and try to put it on right, you know, you-- You don't want to fight with him. Just leave him alone and let them be. Let them go to that stage. You know, my kids were always around their grandpa, you know, they'd sit around him and stuff. Like, he'd know them one minute and not know them the next. But then he cared, you know, they still played around him. They'd feed him. Yeah, and they just took care of him.

From a care partner perspective, embracing a supportive approach rather than a judgmental

one opened the opportunity for participants to find a great deal of value within care

partnership. One participant, Director of the Tribal Museum and Cultural Center, stated directly that she felt she had changed positively as a person as a result of her experience as a care partner:

The dementia experience affected me personally as far as having that compassion, that we all go through things as we get older, and having the patience and understanding of what that's like. Because I see it's becoming more common. And my mom was a registered nurse. So obviously, she had awareness of things that changed within her body and her mind. And so, I think it just created more of an understanding to have more patience, taking more time. But I really valued those last years and took my mom as many places as I could for her to enjoy life and appreciate it.

Later, that same participant described the act of being a care partner as something genuinely

beautiful:

I really couldn't speak on behalf of anybody else. I just know through my own personal experience. But I do see people in the community with, say, their mother. And I can picture somebody right now, that the care and attention that they gave their mom in their final days, it's really, really awesome that it's like, they just really-- It's like carrying something so precious and knowing that they're in the end stages of life.

Predominantly, even when participants expressed negative emotions in connection to dementia, there was always a balance of experience gained and experience lost. Western, biomedical notions of dementia as uncompromisingly tragic were not often employed by participants in an unqualified fashion within a single response, and if full conversations are explored for alternative perspectives, the incidence of a participant sharing about dementia through only a biomedical lens drops to zero. However, such perspectives are indeed present at Pyramid Lake. The youngest participant interviewed—the Language and Culture Program staff member—shared to that end.

I think it kind of makes them a shell. It's sad to see, because even now, I see certain people in our community with behaviors that could be identified as, I guess, risk behaviors, or as unconscious behaviors, and it's hard to watch, you know. You try to talk to someone, you see them, you know, you get excited to see someone, and you hear the same thing. "Oh, I'm gonna do this on this day." See them the next week at the same time, "Oh yeah, I'm gonna go do this this day," you know. And it's hard not to sit there and say, "You didn't-- You already did that." Or you know, you see certain people getting skinnier because they may be forgetting to eat, and it's hard to watch.

The elder healer mentioned that such biomedical framing of dementia might be expanding

at Pyramid Lake, while traditional thought on dementia wanes.

I think some of the older people will ask for help like [traditional healing]. But nowadays we're so lost, we've lost so much culture and tradition. We'll go with what the doctor says or what they think. A lot of times that's not the right way, but it kind of helps people. But I think we-- When you really need help, maybe go to somebody that will pray for you, smudge you off or use a feather, span you off, maybe even sing for you, make you feel better. And sometimes that'll send that other side back and they'll leave you alone. You'll slowly start remembering again... We've gotten so far away from it. We don't, we no longer practice those ways.

Surviving and Thriving at Pyramid Lake

In every conversation with participants, it was clear that members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe are actively considering how to support the survival and wellbeing of their people and their culture. Multiple possible pathways forward were illuminated through our conversations.

Preserving Land and Culture

Given the central role that land itself plays in the selfhood and personhood of tribal members, it was unsurprising to find that environmental conservation arose as a primary concern for the future in nearly all conversations with participants. When asked specifically about her hopes for the future of her community, the Museum and Cultural Center Director responded specifically that continuation of cultural identity is predicated on preservation of Pyramid Lake. My hopes for the community mostly would involve unity. I think we really need to come together to support one another and to have a common vision, which is to maintain our identity and our culture, fight for our water. You know, that's really important to me because as Kooyooe Tukadu [Fish Eaters], if we didn't have the lake, if we didn't have the fish, we would not be who we say we are. And so we need to continue what represents our culture, and it has to do with the land, the water, the resources that are here, and we have to be able to maintain it as pristine as we can. And it's a real struggle, because we have challenges before us with mining and with other social issues. And so, it's a distraction, but we've got to keep in mind who we are.

As we sat together on the shores of Pyramid Lake, another participant-the Director of

Senior Services—shared similar sentiments:

I think looking into the future, I would love for our children, our grandchildren, great grandchildren, to be able to enjoy Pyramid Lake as much as we all have growing up. One time my son, he was seeing all of his buddies at Christmas had gotten money from their reservation. He says, "How come we're so poor we don't get money?" I think he was like, maybe a sophomore. And he said that-- we happened to be riding through here and I go, "Look at Pyramid Lake. It's our lake, that belongs to us." I said, "The tribe spends a lot of money protecting it, fighting for it, making sure that we have water coming to it." I said, "And it's been--Pyramid Lake has been here since-- for thousands of years. And it's shrunk and shrunk and shrunk. But this is where we come from. This is where we live. This is our lake." I said, "You're a tribal member. This is your lake." And I said, "We're not poor. We have this beautiful, awesome resource that is ours." And I just hope that the future generations will be able to come here and enjoy it just as we have. And I hope it never changes. I know it's got a 12% annual evaporation rate, but hopefully on good years like this year where we have snow on the mountains, that we'll always have water coming. Preserve Pyramid Lake.

Alongside land, traditional culture and ideology is also critical for supporting

selfhood and personhood, particular for people living with dementia. This importance was

also reflected in participants' hopes for the future, which hinged on the preservation of

traditional cultural practices and perspectives. The elder healer described his view of the

current situation facing the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe:

It's more than me saying-- It's those, our people that want-- they're going to have to want to bring it back. A lot of our young people, they look at it like, "Oh, that's old fashioned." That's primitive to them. So, a lot of our young people will say, "I

don't want to do that. That's old fashioned." So our people is going to have to want to bring all these back, like the language, culture, tradition. A few of them are wanting to learn, but the majority of our people are lost. They've gone over the edge and maybe will never come back. That's sad. We're in a sad state nowadays with our Indian people. We're really pitiful. Our people are just pitiful nowadays because we put aside all of our teachings, traditions, culture, language. We lost all that. We have to want to bring it back. Our people are going to have to want to bring it back. Our people are going to have to change to bring it all back. They say it's all waiting. Everything's just waiting for people to want to bring it back and pick it up. Everything, even the songs are out there. You just got to go out and get the songs, bring them back. The old round dance songs, the healing songs, the blessing song. Everything's still out there. The food's still out there. Every year it comes, nobody goes out and harvests the food. The Creator, Mother Earth, they're all sad because we're destroying our Mother Earth. We're putting everything aside, our teachings, culture, ourselves, our people, putting our people's minds aside. In time we'll be taibo thinking people. We'll be brown-skinned taibo, white people.

That's what the government wants. Then they'll say, "Oh, you're not Indians no more." They'll take our land, our reservation. "Oh, you people ain't Indian no more. No. Terminate all the reservations. You're just brown-skinned white people." That's what sadly we have pretty much become, because we let ourselves do that by turning our backs on our culture, tradition, language, all of that.

It wasn't just elders who noted a dearth of motivation among tribal members to preserve

traditional culture. The youngest participant interviewed reinforced this reality:

I think a large part of it is because a lot of people have lost who they are. They don't know who they are as a person. You see a lot of people trying to be something else, be something that they aren't. You see them trying to be ... Western. You see them trying to be gangsters, you see them trying to be something that isn't culturally relevant to us. You always hear the phrase "warrior up" or "you need to be a warrior" from people that don't necessarily know what it actually entails. They don't know what that would mean for us, because when it comes down to it, yeah, you would do anything for your people. You would do anything in your power to ensure that the future generations are able to continue, and when you go back to Paiute philosophy, our people always acknowledge the children and our old people as important to us. They were the ones that ensured that things kept going. And I think we kind of see that people are more worried about themselves than they are about those that are around them.

Yet this young participant remains hopeful that tribal members can reconnect with

traditional mindsets and preserve communities and culture in the process.

I think part of my hopes for the future is that we kind of take the teachings that we have and actually utilize them and, you know, put our money where our mouth is, I guess. You always hear people complaining about respect, respect, respect, but you don't really see as many people actually showing it. You always hear people saying, "You need to respect this person, you need to do this," but you don't see it. You don't see people doing things the way that our old people would, and you don't hear about our people being as close as we were. Because you really think about it, in our area there's only a certain number of families when it comes to lineage, and it all comes back to very few people that started it. And it's like, you hear about that, and you would think that we would act more as family then. You would think that we would be able to all sit in a room and not have as much bad blood as we do now. I think that's one of my hopes, is that we don't keep carrying that on and that we don't keep allowing behaviors like that to be affecting our community as bad as they are.

It is important to acknowledge a significant barrier to cultural preservation: historical trauma. Only one participant—the Tribal Museum and Cultural Center Director—shared specifically about the negative impacts of historical trauma, but those impacts she detailed are profound enough to merit consideration as a potent factor in cultural preservation efforts at Pyramid Lake. In describing historical trauma, she said:

I think with historical trauma that pretty much all Native peoples, you know, experience that, because it's passed down generation to generation, and a lot of unresolved issues that result from that. Whether, you know-- You could go way back historically as far as, you know, the Pyramid Lake Wars of 1860. You could go back to, you know, other times when the reservation was created. That was traumatic for our people here, especially at Pyramid Lake, because establishing a reservation was more like a prison camp where people could no longer hunt and gather, which was their normal way of life. And they were restricted to stay within the reservation. And if they left, they were killed. And so that is historical trauma in itself. With a lot of the oppression from the government and policies, say, with the boarding schools. That was traumatic as well, where young children were basically kidnapped from their homes, taken far away and put in a school and then punished if they spoke the language or if they practiced any of the cultural ways. And that was very traumatic. So, through historical trauma, we have a number of incidents that, you know, don't get resolved and then parents pass it on to their children and it continues on generationally.

When asked how such historical trauma obfuscates the preservation of traditional culture,

she responded:

Well, historical trauma has affected culture in many, many ways. So, like I said, with boarding schools, the main intent was to beat the Indian out of children, you know, so that they wouldn't speak the language, that they would forget about their culture. And so, we have a lot of tribes that don't carry on the language to this day, including the tribe here. We have very few fluent speakers because parents didn't want their children to be punished for speaking the language. Therefore, they quit teaching it.

She believed, too, that historical trauma has a direct negative effect on the well-being of

people living with dementia.

So, I see that there's a connection between historical trauma and dementia, because as long as we have a trauma and it's unresolved, it's not been dealt with, people choose to forget and they may not want to deal with it throughout their lifetime. And then as we get older, the dementia sets in which compounds with the historical trauma issues as well. And I think that at least for what I see with Native people, it really compounds that dementia and may progress to other stronger forms or serious forms of forgetfulness.

Yet even with the challenges imposed by historical trauma, she was optimistic about

pathways to healing for the tribe.

With healing historical trauma, I think there's various ways that that can be accomplished. So, you know, we work on wellness. Wellness is a concept of being holistically healthy, you know, mind, body, spirit, and heart. That, you know, when you do wellness work, you're looking within yourself to look at what do you need to improve on, whether, you know, health-wise, physically, mentally, spiritually, how does that work. And I think it's got to start individually to create that movement. And from there, it catches on, you know, with parents that teach their children, you know, how to be well, how to be healthy.

Altogether, participants conveyed that supporting selfhood and personhood for all

people at Pyramid Lake, including people living with dementia, requires special attention

to conservation of the land of the Pyramid Lake Reservation, preservation of the tribe's

traditional cultural practices, and collective healing of longstanding historical traumas.

Dementia Awareness

Another avenue of action for Pyramid Lake communities, in the eyes of participants, is increased awareness and conversation about dementia. Extreme uncertainty about all aspects of dementia was expressed by almost every participant in relation to the topic, and they were not hesitant to admit their lack of knowledge, given its striking magnitude. The police officer for the Tribal Health Clinic expressed her own lack of awareness about dementia.

You know, I don't know. I don't know about that, because-- I don't know-- I don't know anyone else who has dementia. I just know what I dealt with with my dad. And I mean, I could make an assumption of what people think, but I don't know. I don't know. I don't know anyone else who, you know-- I don't know anyone who's-- I don't know. I don't know anyone who's been officially diagnosed. I know people will say, "Oh yeah, he's got, you know, maybe dementia or something." I don't think we treat them any different, but I don't know, you know. I mean-- And I wouldn't respect them less, you know. If anything, I would help them more, as, you know, valuing them because they're an elder. They can't help, you know, what happened to them. But I would think they would still be valued as, you know, important. You know, they might not be able to think the same way they used to or-- Who knows, you know, I've never sat down with them and done something like that, you know.

As a result of this lack of awareness, participants-including the Director of Senior

Services-unanimously agreed that tribal members ought to further consider what a

growing incidence of dementia means for Pyramid Lake.

It's a reality. It's not something that we could pick and choose to not have. You know, it's-- with the high risk factors, it's very real. And I think we just need to know about it. We need to learn about it. We need to talk about it. We don't talk about it. Like a lot of things that happened to Native people, you know, throughout history, we don't talk about it. But how do we heal if we don't talk about it? How do we grow if we don't talk about it? We need to talk about it. Yeah. You know, yeah. Awareness, education... It can happen in Indian country. It just takes a spark. Somebody to say, hey, light it. You know, light that spark because it's not happening.

According to participants, having these conversations is important for improving access to supportive services on the community level. The same participant detailed the tendency among Native families to "...*just deal with it*..." when an elder is struggling, and how that practice—while laudable—might prevent dementia from being discussed on any notable scale at Pyramid Lake.

I see it happening with different families, with different elders here. Actually, across Indian country, not just from Pyramid Lake, but from other places, I see families struggling with not knowing. See families struggling with loved ones that they have that have dementia. It's not talked about. As families, we deal with it. Whenever we have any kind of illness going on in our families with our elders, we just deal with it... It's like, the more that I learn about dementia, the more I want to share with people because it's something that isn't talked about. When families, like I said, have a member that might be ill with anything, we just deal with it. But it's like, the more I learn about dementia, the more questions I have, I think. Because, where's the data? We don't have any data. Where's the services? We don't have any services. Where's-- it wasn't until just recently that we've got grants that are now going to try to help Native people address dementia. It's not something that's talked about. And we need to change that because it does happen. And with Native people being at that higher rate, higher risk of getting it, why aren't we talking about it? We should be talking about it.

Participants also indicated that they are working to navigate the complexities of such

conversations about dementia, given that they are essential to supporting the well-being of

people living with dementia. However, those conversations are far from easy. The youngest

participant shared his insights:

I think they're-- the most they can really do is have the discussion, because although they might have the best intentions, it can be taken the wrong way very easily and cause a lot of issues. So, it's a sticky situation, because you don't want to be that one that kind of makes the decision for someone, and you don't want to be the person that kind of hurts feelings in the process, but you do have to have the discussion. You do have to talk with them and say, you know, "This is what we've noticed," or, you know, "Do you want to get help? Do you want to, you know, have it-- the information? You know, the information is that easy to get, we can go talk to so and so and we can have an answer. Or do you want to just stay in the dark?" Because ultimately if they say no, then there's not really much you can do until it's already progressed. So, I think that's a hard-- the hard talk that people actually have to have and a lot of them aren't willing to.

Finding Pesa Sooname

When considering their hopes for of their tribe, one of the most profound ways that

participants felt tribal members could manifest a shared future of prosperity was also one

of the simplest: staying positive. All participants were asked how they relate to the phrase

"pesa sooname," which translates to "good thought" or "good think" in Northern Paiute.

The Councilwoman responded:

Um, like, you're supposed to be in a good way. Like, the good thoughts, that you can't have negative thoughts, like go to the bad right away, you know. You have to be open for the good, basically. And that you try to keep that balance of-- And it's not to overlook the negative, I don't think, but just again remember, because like that situation where my grandpa, you know, that I talked about, he would always be kind, he would always be nice to people, even though they were like saying ugly things to him, he just went along. And I know when I was a teenager, I didn't understand that because it's like, if somebody's talking smack to you, you know, you've got to stop them, you've got to make them stop. But I think that having good thoughts, then it'll make you feel better inside. That goes along with it. It's just like, you know, that saying about, you know, it takes more muscles to frown than it does to smile. And then the fact that you're smiling releases those endorphins to make you feel better. It's like that. To me it's along the same lines as that.

When asked specifically about his thoughts on Pesa Sooname, and how they relate to his

work on Tribal Council, the Tribal Chairman—who is not yet an elder—shared:

Pesa Sooname to me, it means, you know, everything's a good thing. You have a good approach to everything. And it's really your choice to choose whether you want to have that approach or not. And a lot of times it's not always that way. I get it. But we have to reframe our way of thinking so that we're approaching life and situations like that. And I have to go back to my experience as a police, that I had to approach each and every call like that. You know, I have to go in with a good thing. I have to try to figure this one out. And rather than going with preconceived notions and have a bad attitude, you know. So, I always give thanks every day to the Creator for that. And I try to pray like that every day. And that's how I really sincerely feel. And that's what I do. You know, so I just want you to know that's from the heart. And I pray like that all the time.

Positivity and positive interactions with family and community members goes beyond being a moral aim for participants; it infiltrates how they think of themselves as people. The Tribal Museum and Cultural Center Director recounted the story of her Indian name:

Participant: I've done quite a bit in my life, and I would say-- Well, I've had a lot of reflection, you know. I was looking and talking to my niece about, you know, just within the last year, of a lot of things that had happened and it was all very positive. You know, there were some things that were sad, but for the most part I think-- you know, living life in a in a positive way and being able to help other people, I would say. I have an Indian name, which is "Many Relatives Woman," and that was given to me through ceremony and so for me it represents that's how I have to live my life, is that the people that I encounter on a daily basis I have to treat as my relative. And so I value my relatives very, very much, and, like I said, you know, through dancing or through ceremony, that's how I live my life, is to be a helper. And also as a sun dancer, that I've made that commitment to pray and to help my people as much as possible.

Interviewer: I actually would love to follow up on that. Your name, "Many Relatives Woman." I wonder if you wouldn't mind sharing what that name is in Northern Paiute and also, what does it mean to you to treat someone as a relative?

Participant: So with the name "Many Relatives," many relatives, "Ewa'yoo Nanumu," is part of that. "Mago'ne" is, you know, what we call the woman. And what does it represent, what does it mean? You know, in treating relatives well. It's, you know-- I envision through a design that I made many, many years ago of how is this pictured, you know. And so within this design-- and it's beaded, it's on a purse, and I use that in my dance regalia. So for the center of that is the Stone Mother, and here at Pyramid Lake, the Stone Mother they say represents our creation story of how the lake was created, through the mother's tears as she was crying for her children because they had been sent to different directions. And I feel like that's the center of who we are, you know, that we all have mothers and as children we're not to fight amongst each other for-- Being with my grandmother, that was the worst thing anybody could ever do is, you know, to allow the children to fight with each other. And you know, through the years I came to understand why. And so, in that design the Stone Mother is in the middle and then you've got the water, there's eagle feathers, and then there's a place-- there's a circle around that. And part of this design represents all the people, and it's in each of the four directions. So, kind of an explanation, you know, how I see it visually. And that's to me how it looks, is that it's in a circle, the prayers-- or the feathers represent prayers, so we come to life through prayer and we're here because of prayers of our ancestors and our relatives.

"Pesa sooname"—"good thought"—is therefore both an end to achieve in and of itself to live well and live positively—and also a means through which self, family, community, and culture can all be supported and preserved.

DISCUSSION

This study explored selfhood and personhood within the context of dementia for members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe. The general aim of this study was to shed light on ways of thinking about dementia informed by the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe's culture that help support the well-being of people living with dementia, with a specific focus on the continued support of personal identity-selfhood-and active citizenshippersonhood—for those individuals. Given this study's grounding in a dialogical research approach, an additional and still primary aim was to offer research participants the opportunity to further explore their own thoughts on selfhood, personhood, and dementia in a way that might inform their continual process of self-becoming. Video-Based Dialogical Analysis, and the development of a research-informed documentary film as a core component of this study, were key to accomplishing both of these aims. The documentary film produced will provide an easy mechanism for participants to continue engaging in conversations with both themselves and their fellow community members on the subjects of this research in the sort of iterative research-participant dialogue required by a dialogical research approach and by decolonizing research efforts (Hulko et al., 2010). As directed by the intentions of dialogical research, the discussion below considers and proposes ways in which study results might be of use to study participants individually and to their communities more broadly as they continue along their journey of perpetual becoming.

Following a total of eleven conversations with nine participants, this study identified a number of key themes that frame a story of identity, community, and dementia at Pyramid Lake that is being actively constructed and lived by tribal members. Of primary importance to understanding that story and supporting its continuance is the linkage of selfhood and personhood that participants expressed. Identity for people at Pyramid Lake is not an individual experience; rather, identity is generated from a single person's connection to the land of the Pyramid Lake Reservation itself, to other members of one's family and tribe, and to the very idea of a unified tribal community. Participants repeatedly expressed that they would not be who they are without Pyramid Lake and its surrounding geography, just as they would not be who they are without the traditions and practices that have been passed down from generation to generation for millennia. The place of Pyramid Lake and the culture of the tribe support selfhood both through a person's direct involvement and also through a fostering of connection between tribal members; the notion of service to one's community—in particular supporting the continuation of cultural knowledge—lays at the core of participants' identity. It is therefore senseless for participants to consider notions of selfhood without invoking components of personhood, and vice versa.

This interweaving of selfhood and personhood yields both risks and opportunities for people at Pyramid Lake. As participants and their communities more broadly continue to chart a future that supports the well-being of all tribal members, including people living with dementia, avenues that sacrifice community cohesion for the sake of individual growth may render a great deal of damage even if they are well-intentioned, as individual and community are in fact not able to be parsed so cleanly. Conversely, strategies to bolster community will also likely reinforce tribal members' senses of self and identity, and thus even small investments on that front might yield disproportionately large impacts. Participants were united in their calls for greater focus on community at Pyramid Lake moving forward, so it appears that the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe is well-positioned to leverage the selfhood-personhood bond.

While such a strong connection between self and community is not as ubiquitous a component of Western life as it is for members of the tribe, understanding this aspect of life at Pyramid Lake—and how participants' single greatest hope for the future is a stronger community-can help non-Native people remember the potential critical role that community can play for people living with dementia. Depending on the individual, community might extend beyond providing a means through which people living with dementia can connect with others socially and connect with a meaningful purpose; it might be the best enabler of them connecting with their very selves. As communities across the world consider what it means for them to better support people living with dementia in living well, community itself should not be overlooked as a powerful pathway to positive change. Dementia-friendly efforts must be about more than building and delivering programs, services, and resources for people living with dementia. Steps must be taken to ensure that communities are genuinely inclusive of people living with dementia, since it is very possible that personal well-being cannot be full maintained without authentic participation in community. This is supported by existing research exploring factors contributing to the well-being of people living with dementia, in which domains connected primarily to selfhood, such as "Being Me" and "Growing and Developing", were seen to work in tandem with domains connected primarily to personhood, such as "Being With" and "Making a Difference" (Dupuis et al., 2012).

Participants in this study expressed that the primary tension orchestrating their collective community-level conversations about the future—especially in relation to

elderhood and dementia-was that between Western and traditional ideologies. Existing research has demonstrated the significant extent to which Western ways of thinking about health and well-being have negatively impacted the lives of Native people (MacDonald & Steenbeek, 2015), and participant responses indicated the very same phenomenon is unfolding at Pyramid Lake. In three different ways, a departure from traditional perspectives at Pyramid Lake threatens to disenfranchise people living with dementia from their communities, and—given the fundamental connection between community and self described above—from their selves as well. First, elders with dementia are being averted from opportunities to be of service to their families and communities, as Western ways of thinking about elderhood perpetuate a narrative of elders needing help from their communities rather than communities needing the help of elders. Second, the Western tendency of families choosing to move family members living with dementia into longterm residential care is creating chasms between family members at Pyramid Lake and interfering with the roles that elders and their family members traditionally play in each other's lives. Third, Western biomedical descriptions of dementia are leading people at Pyramid Lake to increasingly consider dementia itself as a problem, label it a medical condition through formal diagnosis, and view it as something causing great loss both at the individual and community levels, supplanting more strengths-based, social/relational perspectives that are deeply seated within traditional modes of thought.

In all three of these cases, participants simultaneously expressed a reverence for traditional ideology and practice while acknowledging the need to strike a balance with influences coming from outside of traditional culture. Based on those responses, it seems that in fact the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe's traditional culture is the main driver guiding them in setting both individual- and community-level goals for the future, and the tribe is struggling to determine how best to utilize the tools offered through Western culture to achieve that future without being redirected by foreign ideology. For example, participants considered how to be of service *to* elders by supporting them in being *of* service to others, they noted the benefits that might arise from creating long-term residential care options on the reservation, and they spoke of using Western medicine for specific people and specific cases, in concert with and in support of traditional healing practices. Explicitly underlining such intentions appears to be helping tribal members find all possible benefits from Western approaches without losing their identity and becoming Western. However, such a balance is difficult to maintain, and participants did express concern that the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe is on a track toward excessive engagement with Western culture that might impede their communities' future thriving.

This model outlined by the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe—of envisioning the desired future and leveraging the various strengths and tools available to achieve that future—is one that might also achieve success in non-Native communities seeking to become more dementia-friendly and inclusive. Most Western community planning discussions center on the identification of problems and the development of solutions to those problems (De Sio & Lachat, 2021). Though problem-solving might be expedient, it risks losing focus of a primary future objective; indeed, as previously mentioned, people at Pyramid Lake are now finding themselves in such a dilemma. Bringing more strengths-based, future-oriented planning processes to the table in community conversation can help circumvent the pitfalls of pure problem-solving, and methods exist for doing this very thing. For example, Appreciative Inquiry utilizes a structured, four-phase approach the guides community members toward identifying aspirations for their shared work as a community, and then taking action toward realizing those aspirations (Loty, 2014). Adapting approaches like Appreciative Inquiry for use at the individual and family levels would even further mobilize the wisdom demonstrated by the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe in relation to supporting the well-being of people living with dementia by focusing on what matters most to them from selfhood and personhood angles.

Participants did note some additional essential actions that must be taken at Pyramid Lake to ensure a successful future: the conservation of Pyramid Lake and its surrounding land, and a dedication to spreading awareness of dementia within a Native context. These actions do not necessarily lie outside the tension between traditional and Western ideologies described above. Indeed, environmental conservation is firmly rooted in the negotiation of individual monetary interests against collective, qualitative benefits gleaned from unadulterated environmental resources. Similarly, conversations about dementia must navigate the diverse and sometimes contradictory cultural narratives about dementia presented in traditional and Western spheres. However, these two actions represent prime targets for partnership between the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe and non-Native groups seeking to support the tribe's well-being and success. When discussing these actions, participants delineated clear next steps in a manner that seemed difficult to do for broader and more cognitively dissonant conversations surrounding the role of traditional culture in supporting the well-being of tribal members. These clear steps are prime targets for outside, non-indigenous people and organizations who are interested in genuine partnership with the tribe and who are committed to a decolonizing approach to supporting the tribe's flourishing, as their importance and urgency are coming not from any outside

analysis but from tribal members themselves. For work between tribes and non-Native groups more widely, it is essential that the needed time be spent to open genuine conversations—such as the ones had through the course of this study—so as to surface clear steps for action and avoid further harm caused by well-meaning but paternalistic aid (Baaz, 2005).

Throughout all of the needed collective community work described by participants and outlined above, a central attention was given to the importance of approaching that work with an appreciation for what is, what has been, and what is to come. "Pesa sooname," meaning "good thought" in Northern Paiute, lays a foundation on which self, community, and systems of care for people living with dementia can be built. Conversations with participants about *pesa sooname* summoned portraits of a community in which all community members are treated with dignity and respect, connected with meaningful opportunities for active citizenship, and supported through care that honors who they are as a person along with their continued role in the community. This positive mindset was sometimes considered as a goal in and of itself, but often participants treated a commitment to pesa sooname as a necessary means through which to achieve broader goals and actualize the shared future for which they hope. In this manner, participants prioritized process alongside outcomes, signaling that focus need be given to both. Continually reflecting on this intention will help people at Pyramid Lake remain working along their desired path, and it is a lesson that non-Native dementia-friendly efforts globally can incorporate into their operations. A focus on good process, through good thought, will yield good outcomes.

STUDY LIMITATIONS

This study yielded strong results that will hopefully be of utility to research participants, the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, and both indigenous and non-Native communities more broadly. However, there are some limitations that are important to recognize, and which will help to guide future research on selfhood and personhood within the context of dementia among Native populations.

First, this study engaged only nine participants. Those participants represented diverse perspectives, including care partners and tribal staff contributing to the well-being of people living with dementia at Pyramid Lake. As such, robust themes and ample complexity was highlighted through the course of participant conversations, however future research could be further strengthened through the inclusion of additional research participants. Of particular note, no people living with dementia participated in this study. Multiple participants reported feeling changes in their memory or other thinking skills, and one participant had the experience of living with a traumatic brain injury that produced memory symptoms, however no participants had ever received a formal diagnosis of dementia or had experienced symptoms that were severe enough to be considered dementia. This limitation is significant on both practical and ethical grounds. First, any attempts at unpacking the experience of living with dementia and identifying supporters of well-being for people living with dementia are grossly incomplete without the perspectives of people living with dementia themselves. In fact, people living with dementia are the only true experts of what it means to live with dementia and what supports might help them to live well. Second, researching, writing, and creating a film about the topic of dementia without the active participation of people living with dementia presents an undeniable problem of representation. People living with dementia are already systematically marginalized; to perpetuate such marginalization through even the most well-intended research efforts is difficult to justify.

A great deal of effort was devoted to recruiting participants living with dementia for this study, yet those efforts were met with no success. This is informative in-and-ofitself, as it provides an example of the downstream effects of phenomena being described by research participants. Recruitment attempts were conducted via word-of-mouth, but contacted individuals seldom could identify someone who they personally knew who was living with even probable, undiagnosed dementia. When they did have a connection to someone living with dementia, they often felt uncomfortable reaching out to that individual on the subject of their dementia, signifying that dementia is indeed quite stigmatized among tribal members. The lack of discussion about dementia at Pyramid Lake is striking, and recruitment efforts for this study highlighted that reality. Without ample community conversation about dementia, a true understanding of dementia's prevalence at Pyramid Lake will continue to stagnate, and stigma surrounding dementia will continue to grow.

Other notable limitations of this study all pertain to interview design. Former research has suggested that best practices for research with Native populations include knowledge-gathering formats such as talking circles and photo elicitation to further decolonize research practice and maximize the degree to which research participants can share in the manner that feels most comfortable for them (Hulko et al., 2010). This study did not incorporate any such alternative knowledge-gathering channels. This decision reflected an attempt to produce material that would lend itself well to inclusion in the documentary film produced in conjunction with the study, under the assumption that direct,

interrogative interviews would be most suitable in that regard. Upon reflection, that assumption was rooted solely in familiarity; one-on-one interviews are pervasive throughout the documentary film genre, and therefore it was falsely determined that such a format would be most desirable for the film product of this research. There is no reason to believe this is true. Creative and innovative approaches to writing and editing the film could have made content gleaned from talking circles, photo elicitation sessions, and other alternative knowledge-gathering channels both informative and engaging to film viewers.

Also related to participant interviews, all participants in this study were asked directly about their relationship to dementia, and were asked numerous questions either about their experience of being a care partner for someone living with dementia or about their thoughts on how best to support the well-being of people living with dementia. In this way, dementia itself was an explicitly outlined topic within all participant conversations. Past research on the subject of memory loss among Native people suggests that such a direct approach to questioning about dementia might obscure more nuanced understandings of memory loss among participants (Hulko et al., 2010). As found, too, in this study, dementia is in fact foreign concept for many Native people, and is associated with Western notions of health, elderhood, and care. Approaching the subject of dementia more delicately—perhaps asking about thinking changes or memory loss first before broaching the concept of dementia per se—might have uncovered hidden complexity that this study in its current form failed to expose.

Lastly, Video-Based Dialogical Analysis holds yet untapped potentials within the study of selfhood, personhood, and dementia. The capacity of Video-Based Dialogical Analysis to capture data nonverbally is one feature that makes it so compelling for use in research that engages people living with dementia, since people living with dementia tend to communicate less and less verbally over time, are inappropriately judged to be less and less adept at communicating, and are therefore frequently excluded from research efforts. Employing Video-Based Dialogical Analysis invites the researcher to reject this narrative of diminution and receive communication from people living with dementia in the manner most comfortable for them, which is often nonverbally. As mentioned previously, no people living with dementia participated in this study, and so the intended nonverbal analysis of participant data was foregone. Even so, Video-Based Dialogical Analysis was central to this study at every phase, given that it served as the unifying pipeline through which participant interviews were simultaneously digested and incorporated into two connected products: a research product targeted toward academia, and a film product targeted toward the broader public. The process of analyzing participant data for the research and the process of topically categorizing interview content for the film were one and the same.

Future research that employs Video-Based Dialogical Analysis would benefit from intentional interview design that solicits ample non-verbal contributions from participants so as to provide fertile ground for leveraging the methodology's full capability. In this study, the interview set-up during participant conversations—along with the questioning structure—likely conveyed to participants that they were taking part in a traditional, videorecorded interview, and so participants may have felt compelled to remain still and focus on their verbal responses. Additionally, for all but two participants, only one conversation was convened, meaning that there may not have been ample time to build researcherparticipant relationships to the point that participants felt comfortable being themselves in

CONCLUSION

In a world in which people living with dementia are frequently deemed to be shells of their former selves, this study set forth to explore the realities of how selfhood and personhood are sustained, lost, or grown among member of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe living with dementia. Until now, little to no research had considered selfhood and personhood within the context of dementia in indigenous populations, despite strong evidence for the presence of social/relational, strengths-based perspectives on dementia among Native people. With intentions to decolonize research practices and to honor research participants' full, ever-becoming selves, this research utilized Video-Based Qualitative Analysis situated within a dialogical research framework. This analysis resulted in the above written report—telling the story of identity, community, and dementia at Pyramid Lake—and also a documentary film to be released in partnership with the tribe following further collaborative review and participatory editing with research participants.

Members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe are motivated and well-situated to leverage cultural identity and traditional practices to support people living with dementia in living a life full of well-being, strongly connected to their selfhood and personhood. Land, family, and service represent three primary pillars of identity for people at Pyramid Lake, and form bridges between oneself and one's community in a manner that generates an interdependence between selfhood and personhood. Pronounced tensions were discussed surrounding the sometime discordant convergence of traditional and Western ideologies in relationship to these core components of identity and citizenship, and elders including people living with dementia—are at risk of becoming trapped in that turbulence if dementia continues to remain undiscussed on any meaningful scale amongst tribal members. Yet a resounding commitment to community at Pyramid Lake, and a long history of supporting each individual as they are and appreciating them for their unique strengths, provide robust reason for hope. Indeed, the generative struggles underway for members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, and the community-level conversations they are employing toward resolution, offer an example not just for other indigenous groups but for both Native and non-Native communities globally.

Central to those conversations is one standout enabler of individual and community well-being, and a catalyst for progress toward community goals: *pesa sooname*. Meaning "good thought" or "good think" in Northern Paiute, this simple but powerful phrase depicts how members of the tribe approach all efforts and all people with notions of positivity and possibility. *Pesa sooname* is the instrument of choice for community members to wield as they work together toward their shared future, and *pesa sooname* is what they hope to find on the other side of that important work.

REFERENCES

- Absolon, K. & Willett, C. (2015). Putting ourselves forward: Location in Aboriginal research. In S. Strega & L. Brown (Eds.), *Research as resistance: Critical, Indigenous, and anti-oppressive approaches.*
- Alzheimer's Association. (2019). 10 Warning Signs of Alzheimer's. https://www.alz.org/media/documents/alzheimers-dementia-memory-loss-alzheimers-10-warning-signs-b.pdf
- Alzheimer's Association. (2022). 2022 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. https://www.alz.org/media/Documents/alzheimers-facts-and-figures.pdf
- American Bar Association. & American Psychological Association. (2008). Assessment of Older Adults with Diminished Capacity: A Handbook for Psychologists.
- Alzheimer's Association. & Centers or Disease Control and Prevention (2019). *Healthy* Brain Initiative, Road Map for Indian Country. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/aging/healthybrain/pdf/HBI-Road-Map-for-Indian-Country-508.pdf</u>
- Aufderheide, P. (2008). "You See the World of the Other and You Look at Your Own": The Evolution of the Video in the Villages Project. *Journal of Film and Video*, 60(2), 26–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1353/jfv.0.0001</u>
- Baaz, M. E. (2005). *The Paternalism of Partnership: A Postcolonial Reading of Identity in Development Aid.* Zed Books.
- Bacigalupo, A. M. (2004). The Mapuche man who became a woman shaman: Selfhood, gender transgression, and competing cultural norms. *American Ethnologist*, 31(3), 440–457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/ae.2004.31.3.440</u>
- Bailey, A., Dening, T. & Harvey, K. (2021). Battles and breakthroughs: representations of dementia in the British press. *Ageing and Society*, 41(2), 362–376. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0144686x19001120</u>
- Bakhtin, M. (1984). Problems of Dostoevsky's Poetics. https://doi.org/10.5749/j.ctt22727z1
- Ball, J. & Janyst, P. (2008). Enacting Research Ethics in Partnerships with Indigenous Communities in Canada: "Do it in a Good Way." *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 3(2), 33–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/jer.2008.3.2.33</u>

- Berger, M. T. (2004). *Workable sisterhood: The political journey of stigmatized women* with *HIV/AIDS*. Princeton University Press.
- Bonny, E. & Berkes, F. (2007). Communicating traditional environmental knowledge: addressing the diversity of knowledge, audiences and media types. *Polar Record*, 44(3), 243–253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0032247408007420</u>
- Borish, D., Cunsolo, A., Mauro, I., Dewey, C. & Harper, S. L. (2021). Moving images, Moving Methods: Advancing Documentary Film for Qualitative Research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 20, 16094069211013646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/16094069211013646</u>
- Brandt, H. M., Freedman, D. A., Friedman, D. B., Choi, S. K., Seel, J. S., Guest, M. A. & Khang, L. (2016). Planting Healthy Roots. *Family & Community Health*, 39(4), 242– 250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/fch.00000000000120</u>
- Breitner, J. C. S. (2006). Dementia—Epidemiological Considerations, Nomenclature, and a Tacit Consensus Definition. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 19(3), 129–136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988706291081</u>
- Cahill, S. (2021). Personhood, dementia literacy, and the causes and consequences of Alzheimer's disease fear. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *33*(10), 997–999. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610220003750</u>
- Census, U. S. (2020). Explore Census Data. https://data.census.gov
- Charmaz, K. (2014). *Constructing Grounded Theory* (Second edition). SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Chi, W., Graf, E., Hughes, L., Jean, H., Khatutsky, G., Shuman, S., Jessup, E. A., Karon, S. & Lamont, H. (2019). Community-Dwelling Older Adults with Dementia and Their Caregivers: Key Indicators from the National Health and Aging Trends Study. Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation.
- Cochran, P. A. L., Marshall, C. A., Garcia-Downing, C., Kendall, E., Cook, D., McCubbin, L. & Gover, R. M. S. (2008). Indigenous Ways of Knowing: Implications for Participatory Research and Community. *American Journal of Public Health*, 98(1), 22–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2006.093641</u>
- Cohen-Shalev, A. & Marcus, E.-L. (2013). An insider's view of Alzheimer: cinematic portrayals of the struggle for personhood. *International Journal of Ageing and Later Life*, 7(2), 73–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.3384/ijal.1652-8670.1272a4</u>
- Davis, D. H. J. (2004). Dementia: sociological and philosophical constructions. Social Science & Medicine, 58(2), 369–378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0277-9536(03)00202-8</u>

- De Sio, L & Lachat, R. (2021). Conflict Mobilisation or Problem-Solving?: Issue Competition in Western Europe. Routledge.
- Denzin, N. K. & Lincoln, Y. S. (2017). The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research (Fifth edition). SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Descombes, V. (2021). *The Mind's Provisions: A Critique of Cognitivism* (S. A. Schwartz, Trans.).
- Dewing, J. (2008). Personhood and dementia: revisiting Tom Kitwood's ideas. International Journal of Older People Nursing, 3(1), 3–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1748-3743.2007.00103.x
- Draus, P. J. (2004). *Consumed in the City: Observing Tuberculosis at Century's End.* Temple University Press.
- Drott, E. R. (2018). Aging bodies, minds and selves: Representations of senile dementia in Japanese film. *Journal of Aging Studies*, 47, 10–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaging.2018.06.006
- Dupuis, S. L., Whyte, C., Carson, J., Genoe, R., Meshino, L. & Sadler, L. (2012). Just dance with me: an authentic partnership approach to understanding leisure in the dementia context. *World Leisure Journal*, 54(3), 240–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/04419057.2012.702454</u>
- Foth, T. & Leibing, A. (2022). Rethinking dementia as a queer way of life and as 'crip possibility': A critique of the concept of person in person-centredness. *Nursing Philosophy*, 23(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nup.12373</u>
- Frank, A. W. (2000). Illness and Autobiographical Work: Dialogue as Narrative Destabilization. *Qualitative Sociology*, 23(1), 135–156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1005411818318</u>
- Frank, A. W. (2005). What Is Dialogical Research, and Why Should We Do It? *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(7), 964–974. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732305279078</u>
- Hanssen, I. & Tran, P. T. M. (2019). The influence of individualistic and collectivistic morality on dementia care choices. *Nursing Ethics*, 26(7–8), 2047–2057. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0969733018791342</u>
- Henderson, J. N. & Henderson, L. C. (2002). Cultural construction of disease: A ``supernormal'' construct of dementia in an American Indian tribe. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 17(3), 197–212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1021268922685</u>

- Henderson, J. N. & Traphagan, J. W. (2005). Cultural Factors in Dementia. Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders, 19(4), 272–274. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.wad.0000190806.13126.55
- Hennelly, N. & O'Shea, E. (2021). A multiple perspective view of personhood in dementia. Ageing and Society, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0144686x20002007</u>
- Higgs, P. & Gilleard, C. (2016). Interrogating personhood and dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*, 20(8), 773–780. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2015.1118012</u>
- Hulko, W., Camille, E., Antifeau, E., Arnouse, M., Bachynski, N. & Taylor, D. (2010). Views of First Nation Elders on Memory Loss and Memory Care in Later Life. *Journal of Cross-Cultural Gerontology*, 25(4), 317–342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10823-010-9123-9</u>
- Hutmacher, F. (2021). Understanding the self of people with dementia. *Zeitschrift Fur Gerontologie Und Geriatrie*, 54(2), 161–166. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00391-020-</u> 01718-1
- Jacklin, K. & Kinoshameg, P. (2008). Developing a Participatory Aboriginal Health Research Project: "Only if it's Going to Mean Something." *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 3(2), 53–67. https://doi.org/10.1525/jer.2008.3.2.53
- Jenkins, N. (2014). Dementia and the inter-embodied self. *Social Theory & Health*, *12*(2), 125–137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/sth.2013.24</u>
- Jones, A. & Jenkins, K. (2008). *Handbook of Critical and Indigenous Methodologies*. 471–486. <u>https://doi.org/10.4135/9781483385686.n23</u>
- Katz, S. (2013). Dementia, personhood and embodiment: What can we learn from the medieval history of memory? *Dementia*, 12(3), 303–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301213476505</u>
- Kessler, E.-M. & Schwender, C. (2012). Giving dementia a face? The portrayal of older people with dementia in German weekly news magazines between the years 2000 and 2009. *The Journals of Gerontology. Series B, Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 67(2), 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbr156
- Kitwood, T. (1997). Dementia Reconsidered: The Person Comes First. Open University Press.
- Kontos, P. C. (2005). Embodied selfhood in Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia*, 4(4), 553–570. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1471301205058311</u>

- Kontos, P. C. & Naglie, G. (2007). Expressions of Personhood in Alzheimer's Disease: An Evaluation of Research-Based Theatre as a Pedagogical Tool. *Qualitative Health Research*, 17(6), 799–811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732307302838</u>
- Kovan, S. B. & Soled, D. R. (2022). A Disembodied Dementia: Graphic Medicine and Illness Narratives. *Journal of Medical Humanities*, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10912-022-09766-x
- Krupat, A. (1991). American Autobiography: Retrospect and Prospect (P. J. Eakin, Ed.; pp. 171–194).
- Liu, C., Badana, A. N. S., Burgdorf, J., Fabius, C. D., Roth, D. L. & Haley, W. E. (2020). Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Racial and Ethnic Differences in Dementia Caregivers' Well-Being. *The Gerontologist*, 61(5), e228–e243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gnaa028</u>
- Loty, J. (2014). The Power of Appreciative Inquiry: A Practical Guide to Positive Change. *Performance Improvement*, 53(8), 45–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.21433</u>
- Low, L.-F. & Purwaningrum, F. (2020). Negative stereotypes, fear and social distance: a systematic review of depictions of dementia in popular culture in the context of stigma. *BMC Geriatrics*, 20(1), 477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01754-x</u>
- MacDonald, C. & Steenbeek, A. (2015). The Impact of Colonization and Western Assimilation on Health and Wellbeing of Canadian Aboriginal People. *International Journal of Regional and Local History*, 10(1), 32–46. https://doi.org/10.1179/2051453015z.0000000023
- Miller, L. M., Kaye, J. A., Lyons, K. S., Lee, C. S., Whitlatch, C. J. & Caserta, M. S. (2019). Well-being in dementia: a cross-sectional dyadic study of the impact of multiple dimensions of strain on persons living with dementia and their family care partners. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 31(5), 617–626. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s104161021800203x</u>
- Mills, M. W. (2016). Alzheimer's: The Caregiver's Perspective.
- Mills, M. W. (2018). Revolutionizing Dementia Care.
- Mills, M. W. (2021). Alzheimer's: What You Can Do.
- Mitchell, G. J., Dupuis, S. L. & Kontos, P. C. (2013). Dementia Discourse: From Imposed Suffering to Knowing Other-Wise. *Journal of Applied Hermenutics*, 5, 1–19.

- Petrarca, D. M. & Hughes, J. M. (2014). Mobilizing Knowledge via Documentary Filmmaking — Is the Academy Ready? *McGill Journal of Education / Revue Des Sciences de l'éducation de McGill*, 49(3), 561–582. <u>https://doi.org/10.7202/1033547ar</u>
- Polenick, C. A., Sherman, C. W., Birditt, K. S., Zarit, S. H. & Kales, H. C. (2018). Purpose in Life Among Family Care Partners Managing Dementia: Links to Caregiving Gains. *The Gerontologist*, 59(5), e424–e432. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny063
- Quinn, C., Nelis, S. M., Martyr, A., Victor, C., Morris, R. G., Clare, L. & team, I. study. (2019). Influence of Positive and Negative Dimensions of Dementia Caregiving on Caregiver Well-Being and Satisfaction With Life: Findings From the IDEAL Study. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 27(8), 838–848. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2019.02.005</u>
- Quinn, C. & Toms, G. (2018). Influence of Positive Aspects of Dementia Caregiving on Caregivers' Well-Being: A Systematic Review. *The Gerontologist*, 59(5), e584–e596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gny168</u>
- Reed, P., Carson, J. & Gibb, Z. (2017). Transcending the Tragedy Discourse of Dementia: An Ethical Imperative for Promoting Selfhood, Meaningful Relationships, and Well-Being. AMA Journal of Ethics, 19(7), 693. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/journalofethics.2017.19.7.msoc1-1707</u>
- Rice, C., Dion, S. D., Fowlie, H. & Mündel, I. (2020). Re/turning the gaze: unsettling settler logics through multimedia storytelling. *Feminist Media Studies*, 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2019.1707256</u>
- Rossato-Bennett, M. (2014). Alive Inside: A Story of Music and Memory.
- Sabat, S. R. & Harré, R. (1992). The Construction and Deconstruction of Self in Alzheimer's Disease. *Ageing and Society*, *12*, 443–461.
- Schwarz, M. T. (1997). Snakes in the Ladies' Room: Navajo Views on Personhood and Effect. American Ethnologist, 24(3), 602–627. <u>https://doi.org/10.1525/ae.1997.24.3.602</u>
- Simpson, L. (2008). Oshkimaadiziig, the new people. In L. Simpson, *Lighting the eighth fire: The liberation, resurgence, and protection of Indigenous nations,* (pp. 13–21).
- Swinnen, A. (2013). Dementia in Documentary Film: Mum by Adelheid Roosen. *The Gerontologist*, 53(1), 113–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gns061</u>

- Swinton, J. (2021). Re-imagining personhood: dementia, culture and citizenship. *Journal of Religion, Spirituality & Aging*, 33(2), 172–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/15528030.2020.1845278
- Tinker, G. E. (1992). Spirituality of the Third World: A Cry for Life: Papers and Reflections from the Third General Assembly of the Ecumenical Association of Third World Theologians (K. C. Abraham & B. Mbuy-Beya, Eds.; pp. 119–137).
- Vandello, J. A. & Cohen, D. (1999). Patterns of Individualism and Collectivism Across the United States. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(2), 279–292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.77.2.279</u>
- Warry, W. (2009). Ending denial: understanding aboriginal issues (Vol. 45). University of Toronto Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.5860/choice.45-5782</u>
- Watson, R. (2022). Research is ceremony: Indigenous research methods by Shawn Wilson. *The Canadian Geographer / Le Géographe Canadien*, 56(2), 294–295. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.2012.00419.x</u>
- Yip, S. H., O'Connor, D., Shemirani, F. S., Brown, A. & Hyman, J. (2022). Emergency assistance in situations of abuse, neglect, and self-neglect: exploring the complexity and challenges. *Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect*, 34(2), 124–151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08946566.2022.2070317</u>
- Zeilig, H. (2014). Dementia As a Cultural Metaphor. *The Gerontologist*, 54(2), 258–267. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/gns203
- Zeilig, H. (2015). What do we mean when we talk about dementia? Exploring cultural representations of "dementia." *Working with Older People*, *19*(1), 12–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/wwop-10-2014-0032</u>
- Zekry, D., Hauw, J. & Gold, G. (2002). Mixed Dementia: Epidemiology, Diagnosis, and Treatment. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *50*(8), 1431–1438. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50367.x</u>

APPENDIX A

Recruitment Flyer

ARE YOU EXPERIENCING COGNITIVE DECLINE, OR KNOW SOMEONE WHO IS?

Tell you story as part of a research project and documentary film!



REQUIREMENTS

You or someone you know is experiencing cognitive decline that could be dementia.

Your story will help explore the experience of living with dementia for members of the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, and will be archived as part of the Tribe's oral history!

Participation is as simple as having a video-recorded conversation, and is 100% voluntary.

This project is led by the Numaga Senior Services Program, in collaboration with a graduate student from UNR.

Interested in participating? Email: <u>cacklin@unr.edu</u> or call: (775) 857-7818

Recruitment Email

Hello everyone,

I am working with a graduate student at UNR, Casey Acklin, to create a film about elderhood and dementia at Pyramid Lake. We are talking to elders, family members, and tribal staff to hear their stories and perspectives about elderhood, dementia, and caregiving.

We are also doing a research project along with the film, to understand what aspects of culture here at Pyramid Lake support the well-being of elders. This film and project has been fully approved by Tribal Council.

We have talked to 7 people so far, but our goal is 15 people, so we need your help! I've attached a flyer with contact information for Casey; his email is <u>cacklin@unr.edu</u> and his phone number is (775) 857-7818. Reach out to him if you are interested; we would love to talk with you!

We are trying to finish interviews by the end of January. Even if you aren't interested, if you know someone who might be, we would so appreciate you passing along this information.

Thank you so much, and we look forward to hearing your stories,

Carla Eben Numaga Senior Services Director Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe

APPENDIX B

Letter of Informed Consent

University of Nevada, Reno Consent Form Template, Social Behavioral or Educational Research

Title of Study: Using Documentary Film to Explore Selfhood and Personhood within the Context of Dementia at the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe Principal Investigator: Laura Crosswell, PhD Co-Investigators / Study Contact: Casey Acklin Study ID Number: 1943045-1

Introduction

You are being invited to participate in a research study. Before you agree to be in the study, read this form carefully. It explains why we are doing the study; and the procedures, risks, discomforts, benefits, and precautions involved.

At any time, you may ask one of the researchers to explain anything about the study that you do not understand.

You do not have to be in this study. Your participation is voluntary. If you do not agree to participate, you will still have the opportunity to share your story if you wish to do so.

Take as much time as you need to decide. If you agree now but change your mind, you may quit the study at any time. Just let one of the researchers know you do not want to continue.

Why are we doing this study?

We are doing this study to learn more about the experience of living with cognitive changes caused by a probable dementia-related condition at the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe, both from the perspectives of elders and also from their family, friends, and other community members that support them in living well.

Benefits of research cannot be guaranteed, but we hope to both collect and tell stories of Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe members in a way that can be recorded for future generations while also understanding more about dementia within an American Indian context.

Why are we asking you to be in this study?

We are asking you to be in this study because you, or someone you know, is living with cognitive changes that may be dementia, and we want to learn more about your perspectives and experiences as either a person living with dementia or a family or professional care partner.

How many people will be in this study?

We expect to enroll approximately 15 participants from within the Tribe.

What will you be asked to do if you agree to be in the study?

If you agree to be in this study you will be asked to engage in a conversational videorecorded interview in which we will talk about your history, your present experiences, and your vision for the future.

How long will you be in the study?

The study will last until Spring 2023, and you will have the opportunity to participate as much or as little as you would like until that time.

What are your choices if you do not volunteer to be in this research study?

If you decide not to be in the study, you may still be involved in the creation of a documentary film in which you would have the chance to share your story, if you wish to do so.

What if you agree to be in the study now, but change your mind later?

You do not have to stay in the study. You may withdraw from the study at any time. If you do withdraw, you can remain in the film being produced alongside the study, or you can ask that you not be featured in the film, however you will not be able to request withdrawal from being featured in the film once the film has already been released.

What if the study changes while you are in it?

If anything about the study changes or if we want to use your information in a different way, we will tell you and ask if you if you want to stay in the study. We will also tell you about any important new information that may affect your willingness to stay in the study.

Is there any way being in this study could be bad for you?

If you participate in this study, you may find our conversations very positive or rewarding. However, you may also find yourself having some difficult and/or emotional conversations during interviews. If this occurs, you will always have the opportunity to

end those conversations and either re-commence at a later time or withdraw from the study. You also have the option to ask that the recordings of the conversations be deleted after the fact, although you will not have this option once the documentary film has been released.

Will being in this study help you in any way?

We cannot promise you will benefit from being in this study, but we do aim to offer you an opportunity to tell your story in a manner that helps you better understand the role of cognitive changes within your own life, whether you are living with dementia or are a care partner for someone living with dementia.

Who will pay for the costs of your participation in this research study?

No costs are associated with participation in this study.

Will you be paid for being in this study?

You will not receive any payment for being this study, but you will receive all raw videorecorded interviews and a copy of any media produced during this project.

Who will know that you are in this study and who will have access to the information we collect about you?

The researchers, and the University of Nevada, Reno Institutional Review Board will have access to your study records. Additionally, participating in this study entails being featured in a documentary film being produced alongside this study. However, you may request that you be anonymized (changing your name, hiding your face, or both) if you choose. That being said, even in cases where you request anonymity, it is possible that other community members who are familiar with your story might still be able to determine who you are.

How will we protect your private information and the information we collect about you?

We will not use your name or other information that could identify you in any reports or publications that result from this study unless you explicitly tell us that we have permission to do so. You may withdraw this permission at any time, up to the point that the documentary film is released. Your information will not be used or distributed for future research studies even if identifiers are removed.

Do the researchers have monetary interests tied to this study?

The researchers and/or their families have no monetary interests tied to this study.

Whom can you contact if you have questions about the study or want to report an injury?

At any time, if you have questions about this study or wish to report harm to yourself that may be related to your participation in this study, contact Casey Acklin at <u>cacklin@unr.edu</u> or (775) 857-7818.

Whom can you contact if you want to discuss a problem or complaint about the research or ask about your rights as a research participant?

You may discuss a problem or complaint or ask about your rights as a research participant by calling the University of Nevada, Reno Research Integrity Office at (775) 327-2368. You may also use the online *Contact the Research Integrity Office* form available from the <u>Contact Us page</u> of the University's Research Integrity Office website.

Agreement to be in study

If you agree to participate in this study, you must sign this consent form. We will give you a copy of the form to keep.

Participant's Name Printed

Signature of Participant or Legal Guardian

Date

Signature of Person Obtaining Consent

Date

Photo/Video Release Form

University of Nevada, Reno Photo/Video Release Form for Research

Title of Study: Using Documentary Film to Explore Selfhood and Personhood within the Context of Dementia at the Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribe Principal Investigator: Laura Crosswell, PhD Co-Investigators: Casey Acklin IRB Number: 1943045-1

Photographs will be taken and video recordings will be made of you during your participation in this research project. Please indicate below how we may use your images. Agreeing to allow your images to be used for research is completely voluntary and up to you. In any use of your images, your name will not be disclosed.

For all uses to which you agree, please initial in the spaces provided in the following
table:

Initials	Uses
	1. The images may be studied by the research team for this research project.
	2. The images may be used for scientific publications.
	3. The images may be used at meetings of scientists interested in the study of dementia and American Indian communities.
	4. The images may be used in classrooms to teach students about dementia and American Indian communities.
	5. The images may be used in public presentations to non-scientific groups.
	6. The audio recording may be used on television and radio.

You have the right to request that the recording be stopped or erased at any time.

By signing below, you are agreeing that you have read the above description and give your consent for the uses of your images as indicated by your initials.

Participant's Name Printed

Signature of Participant

Date

Signature of Person Obtaining Consent

Date